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           1                                       Tuesday, 14 October 2008

           2    (10.30 am)

           3                      Human Rights Inquiry

           4                             (Draft)

           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  We are actually to be joined by Mr Lewis

           6       and Mr Hope who are somewhat late so I think we will

           7       start and come back to them, if that's all right with

           8       you.

           9           I would like to welcome you.  I would like to

          10       introduce my fellow commissioner.  You may know

          11       Professor Francesca.  She is the lead commissioner on

          12       this formal investigation.  My name is Dame Nuala O'Loan

          13       and I am chairing the inquiry.

          14           Our focus is on the extent to which a human rights

          15       culture is developing among the authorities, the

          16       barriers to that culture and the role of the Commission,

          17       public authorities generally, Government, in fostering

          18       and promoting a human rights culture.

          19           If there are any questions which we ask to which you

          20       don't feel you can give us a full answer, please tell

          21       us.  If you want to put in a written submission we would

          22       be very grateful, particularly grateful if you could do

          23       it within 14 days.

          24           We did ask you whether you were prepared to give

          25       evidence in public and you indicated that you were.  Is
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           1       that still the case?

           2   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Yes, that is fine.

           3   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  If at any stage you think we need to go

           4       into private please let us know.

           5           We have a palantypist who will record your evidence

           6       so if you use acronyms or abbreviations I would be most

           7       grateful if you could explain them.

           8           And now before I start I do like my witnesses to

           9       make a two-minute opening statement if they wish to do

          10       so.

          11   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Okay.  Thank you very much first of all

          12       for inviting me to give evidence today.  I am pleased to

          13       do so representing the Liberal Democrats as a member of

          14       the Health Team and particularly with my particular

          15       focus on older people's health issues on the Liberal

          16       Democrat Health Team, which is the area that I have most

          17       experience of, raising human rights related issues with

          18       regards to health care.

          19           Thank you also for pushing the session back to 10.30

          20       from 10 o'clock because I have actually travelled down

          21       this morning from home in Otley and this is my first day

          22       back after paternity leave.

          23   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Congratulations.

          24   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  So I am pleased to be here.  It is

          25       a nice thing to blow the cobwebs off having left my two
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           1       week old daughter sleeping soundly this morning when I

           2       left the house.

           3           In terms of really the contribution I feel I can

           4       play, I think it is quite different clearly from

           5       contributions that ministers will make.  You know, I am

           6       representing an opposition political party.

           7           The experience that I have had has been raised with

           8       me, particularly by organisations, particularly older

           9       people's organisations and there are certain key issues

          10       that I have had involvement in.  Clearly what I do not

          11       have, and would not pretend to have, is a huge wealth of

          12       experience from on the ground, if you like; it is more

          13       at a policy level.

          14   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Would you like us to focus on the areas

          15       of particular interest to you?

          16   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think it would make sense from your

          17       point of view.

          18   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  If you would alert us.

          19   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  My role is to be challenging the

          20       Government in this area if I feel that human rights

          21       legislation is not being fully implemented or taken

          22       account of within the health policy area.  So, you know,

          23       that's very much my perspective.

          24   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  So would you like to tell us what your

          25       first area of concern is or your first issue is?
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           1   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think there are a number of concerns.

           2       I am someone who fully supports what the Government has

           3       done in terms of the Human Rights Act and bringing that

           4       in.  I think that was a very positive and necessary step

           5       forward for human rights in this country.

           6           I think, as we all know, that a lot of the problems

           7       is how actually it becomes first of all implemented and

           8       then actually becomes a part of day-to-day working

           9       culture.  So I think the policy is right.  It is the

          10       implementation and then filtering that down to the

          11       people who have to deliver health care in this country

          12       and whether it is really -- and I don't, I try not to

          13       use clichés -- whether it is embedded in an

          14       organisation, because it is very much one thing for

          15       heads of organisations, chief executives, for example,

          16       of health trusts to say that they have a human rights

          17       focus.  And I have no doubt that they believe the

          18       organisation does that, but unless the people on the

          19       ground who are doing the day-to-day care of individuals

          20       and patients, then there is a real danger it can simply

          21       be, you know, pieces of paper and buzz words which is

          22       very damaging.

          23           Equally, I think if anyone said: do you think health

          24       care in Britain has a human rights focus? I think on
          25       the whole people would say it most certainly has because
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           1       clearly the whole purpose of the NHS, the whole family

           2       principles are about delivering health care for people

           3       for individuals and their families.

           4           But I do think that the increased emphasis on human

           5       rights is very useful and I think the Commission has

           6       a very important role to play in pushing that agenda

           7       forward, particularly with, as we have all seen,

           8       sections of the media being very unhelpful and rather

           9       twisting the whole notion of human rights.

          10           So I think it is your job and other body's jobs to

          11       push it but also to say: this is not just about nice

          12       sounding words and fancy printables.  I am sometimes

          13       rather critical of the language used in policies and

          14       statements about human rights.  It is about on the

          15       ground.  It is an individual being treated in a way that

          16       is fully consistent with their human rights.  It is as

          17       simple as that.  And if we start from that principle

          18       then we can't go far wrong, but often it is rather top

          19       down which doesn't always lead to that.

          20   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  When you say the principles and the

          21       language which is used on the ground, are you referring

          22       to service providers or to the media?

          23   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I am referring to service providers,

          24       health officers, it is the sort of policy statement.

          25       Talking about.  I used the word "embedded" which I think
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           1       is not itself particularly -- in itself that is rather

           2       a cliché.  We talk about capacity building and the human

           3       rights focus when actually what we are talking about is

           4       every single individual who receives any form of health

           5       care in Britain, is that treatment fully consistent with

           6       their human rights?  It should be starting from that

           7       principle and working up rather than somehow being

           8       misimposed and politicians to health and social care

           9       managers and implementers downwards.  Really I think we

          10       need to have a more consensual approach building from

          11       the bottom.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Or both.

          13   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Or both, indeed.

          14   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Are there any other specific issues

          15       before we turn to our questions?

          16   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Being the Liberal Democrat spokesperson

          17       for older people's health issues I think it is vitally

          18       important to highlight that first of all the people who

          19       do not have their human rights always respected within

          20       our health and social care system are inevitably nearly

          21       always the most vulnerable people which is, you know, in

          22       a sense a sad inevitability where there are gaps.  And

          23       I think it is therefore particularly important to be

          24       focusing on those groups, older people being one,

          25       mentally ill people being another, people with learning
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           1       difficulties and other disabilities being an obvious

           2       third group.  And I think a lot of the focus of the

           3       human rights agenda in healthcare has to be focused on

           4       these specific individuals.

           5           As I have said, my particular experience is with

           6       older people's issues.  And I do think it is extremely

           7       depressing that despite the fact that we have had the

           8       Human Rights Act and, you know, a real focus on human

           9       rights throughout Government and filtering through

          10       departments and, as I say, I applaud the Government for

          11       having done that, and nevertheless there are still far

          12       too many instances -- indeed, without falling into the

          13       trap I said earlier about tabloid newspapers, too many

          14       horror stories still of people not only not getting the

          15       care they need and deserve but whose human rights are

          16       clearly being infringed.

          17           You know, the worst examples being people who are

          18       left in their own soiled clothes and sheets for lengths

          19       of time, people who are not given any assistance to feed

          20       when they have difficulty feeding when food is simply

          21       left on their bed, the so-called "chemical cosh", drugs

          22       inappropriately administered in still very large numbers

          23       to patients and individuals with varying forms of

          24       dementia.

          25           The list goes on and we still don't have in a lot of
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           1       social care a sufficient framework to guarantee that

           2       a lot of these abuses, and they are abuses, whether it

           3       is abuse by deliberate action or neglect frankly to the

           4       individual is not relevant.  And of course a lot of the

           5       abuses that happen to older people are because of

           6       neglect.  They are because of under-staffing because if,

           7       for example, a care home does not have the sufficient

           8       numbers of staff to deal with people so that they are,

           9       if you like, inadvertently accidentally left in

          10       conditions or not helped to be ... actually that does

          11       not make any difference to the end result and to the

          12       fact that their human rights has been abused.

          13           Sometimes people think these things are so awful:

          14       how can somebody do this to an older person?  Of course

          15       they are not doing it.  They are not doing the things to

          16       ensure that old people's dignity and human rights are

          17       observed and, you know, I hope that the ministers will

          18       come along because obviously my opposite number on these

          19       issues is Ivan Lewis and I pay tribute to the way he has

          20       tried to champion a lot of these issues.  But

          21       nevertheless, I think he probably finds it rather

          22       depressing that we have debate after debate in the House

          23       of Commons on these issues and still we have case after

          24       case of this sort of abuse going on, on a regular basis
          25       and to far too many people in Britain.
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           1           That simply means that the human rights agenda has

           2       not really in any acceptable way become a mainstream

           3       plank of social care particularly but also hospital care

           4       for elderly people in this country.

           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I interrupt you for one moment.  It

           6       is ten years since the passing of the Act and there has

           7       been a campaign to inform the delivery of services using

           8       terms like "respect" and "dignity" and "autonomy" and

           9       "freedom".  And I wonder to what extent you think that

          10       that language is appropriate to enable, particularly

          11       service providers on the ground to understand their

          12       obligations under the Human Rights Act.

          13   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  As I say, I think there is a real

          14       problem and a real challenge and a challenge for all of

          15       us about the use of language.  And having seen some

          16       human rights policy statements, declarations in

          17       healthcare, I often wonder how someone on the ground who

          18       is faced with very long days and very challenging and

          19       demanding work, both physically and emotionally, would

          20       actually see that as relevant to what they do on

          21       a day-to-day basis.  And I think this is a challenge

          22       that in a lot of the policy areas is not being met and

          23       I think healthcare is probably a fairly obvious one.

          24   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  How should it be met in healthcare, can

          25       you tell me?
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           1   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think we have to get away from this

           2       idea that human rights is this rather ethereal, dare

           3       I say, middle class issue that is about paying lip

           4       service to some very important principles.  It isn't.

           5       Basic human rights in a developed nation like the United

           6       Kingdom is about ensuring that each citizen is

           7       adequately and properly treated from a human rights

           8       perspective on a day-to-day basis when they are

           9       receiving public services, and I will come back if I may

          10       to the public issue which is another issue that I very

          11       much want to raise while I get the chance to give

          12       evidence.

          13   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Yes.

          14   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I did not want to interrupt.  Do

          15       finish what you are saying and then I was going to

          16       follow up the question.

          17   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I just don't think at the moment we are

          18       getting it right in terms of looking at -- I am talking

          19       about healthcare specifically -- looking at what people

          20       do, NHS staff, care staff do on a day-to-day basis and

          21       ensuring that they understand what we mean when we talk

          22       about human rights.  And I think itself human rights,

          23       because of some coverage that it has had and perhaps

          24       because it sounds like something that perhaps people

          25       were interested in as students, human rights in central
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           1       America, that it doesn't necessarily seem relevant to

           2       people when they are delivering care on the ground in

           3       hospitals, in care homes, in people's homes, in other

           4       health and care related environments.

           5           I think "dignity" is a very helpful word.  I think

           6       "freedom" is a difficult one and "choice" is a difficult

           7       one to relate to the human rights agenda but I think

           8       "dignity" particularly in relation to older people is

           9       essential.  And if you say are people's dignities being

          10       properly respected?, then the answer is still, as I have

          11       already said, no.  On far too many occasions, the

          12       minority certainly but still in numbers, far too many

          13       people are receiving forms of abuse and I say largely

          14       through neglect.

          15   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Given what you say,

          16       Mr Mulholland -- sorry to interrupt -- a lot of our

          17       witnesses would agree with you and we have heard other

          18       evidence about the kind of abuses you are describing.

          19       We have also heard about pilots, such as in Merseyside,

          20       an NHS pilot where there is a valid attempt to introduce

          21       the human rights-based approach which appears to be

          22       producing credible results.

          23           But I wondered from what you are saying whether you

          24       think the human rights framework is necessary at all to

          25       achieve the results that you want.  Why do we need it?
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           1       Does it add a value to simply telling staff: treat your

           2       patients and clients with respect?

           3   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think the human rights framework, the

           4       overarching framework coming from the Human Rights Act,

           5       I do think that is important because I think people need

           6       to have a sense that is something which should run

           7       through every single area of policy, in this case

           8       healthcare, that people can't get out of, that it isn't

           9       optional.  It is something that every single citizen of

          10       this country can expect, depend on and then take action

          11       when they are not treated, when their family is not

          12       treated in that way.  I think that is absolutely

          13       essential.  I think the law has to be there to ensure

          14       that is the case.

          15           I absolutely agree that there are pilots going on,

          16       that there are certain projects that individual, for

          17       example, health authorities have done which are proving

          18       successful and I think that is very important, and

          19       I think clearly I am sure one of the things you are

          20       doing is pulling together the lessons from that.

          21       I think that is very exciting.  I think that is very

          22       exciting for all of us who are national politicians to

          23       look at that and to see the examples of best practice,

          24       to see the organisations and the management families who

          25       have risen to the challenge of saying, we've got this
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           1       framework with some language that may not seem relevant

           2       but actually getting it through to our front line staff

           3       so they say: yes, I know that these people have to have

           4       their dignity preserved, that they have to be treated in

           5       a certain way, and that it becomes part of their

           6       day-to-day thinking and action all the time that they

           7       are fulfilling the functions of their job.

           8           But what I don't think is happening sufficiently,

           9       I think a lot of these things are happening in

          10       individual local areas but there still isn't the

          11       sense -- there is still a gap, if you like, above that

          12       to the legislative framework and I think because of that

          13       there are areas that are falling out.  Not all areas,

          14       not all health trusts are doing that, and then of course

          15       you get into the very grey area of social care, of care

          16       homes and of course that's the biggest challenge I think

          17       in probably in the whole implementation of human rights

          18       in healthcare.

          19           And a particular focus for me, because you are

          20       looking at some very small establishments often who

          21       don't have any perceived link from their management

          22       teams, from their owners to a human rights legislative

          23       framework the way that of course all public health

          24       authorities do.  And I think that's a particular

          25       challenge that we are not facing up to and that is why
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           1       I think the framework needs to be communicated more and

           2       better and possibly even strengthened.

           3           Certainly there are areas that I think that need to

           4       be changed in terms of legislation, particularly the

           5       fact that self-funders in care homes, older people who

           6       are self-funding are not part of it at all which,

           7       regardless of what other people may say and lawyers and

           8       ministers may say, is absurd.  And I think that really

           9       shows that there is one fundamental weakness with the

          10       Human Rights Act and that is that it has this

          11       application only to public function and that, I am

          12       afraid, is talking of common sense not a common nonsensical
          13       thing because frankly it doesn't matter what body is

          14       delivering health or social care, be it private, be it

          15       public, be it voluntary sector.  Your human rights

          16       should be respected.  It doesn't matter whether you pay

          17       all of those costs in health or social care, some of

          18       those costs or none of those costs.  Your human rights

          19       should and must be enshrined in law and they are not.

          20           That is a huge problem and I think if there is one

          21       single thing I would like to say to you today that is

          22       the area of legislation that must change and the Human

          23       Rights Act must therefore be extended to do that and we

          24       must have a more realistic definition of the kind of

          25       services that people have that may not be currently
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           1       under that heading of a public function but nevertheless

           2       that clearly are services that people have to have and

           3       rely on and their families rely on and therefore human

           4       rights should and must be respected.

           5   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  What you are referring to is the

           6       Health and Social Care Bill which is extended coverage

           7       arranged by public bodies.

           8   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Absolutely.

           9   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Therefore it means residents in

          10       the same care home or same nursing home would actually

          11       be under different regimes.

          12   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Exactly.  Whilst I welcome the

          13       amendment -- I lobbied for it in Parliament -- it

          14       actually makes the situation even more absurd because

          15       you now have people in a private care home next door to

          16       each other, one of whom has their human rights respected

          17       and the other does not.  That is absurd.  And,

          18       therefore, the law was flawed in the first place and

          19       I accept the arguments the ministers have made that that

          20       is a very challenging process but, nevertheless, our job

          21       is to make sensible laws that assist and protect people,

          22       and there is a huge loophole that still exists and

          23       I think that has to be the absolute priority, certainly

          24       in the older people's healthcare issues.

          25   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Can I ask you specific questions
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           1       about that, if I may, because you obviously have been

           2       very involved in this debate, as I can see, as Shadow

           3       Health Minister.  One of the reasons that is given for

           4       not extending this further is the care homes themselves,

           5       the lobby of the care home saying: this will be a burden

           6       too far, and indeed the leader of the opposition,

           7       Mr Cameron, made an allusion to this kind of sense that

           8       the Human Rights Act provides a burden on people in his

           9       conference speech when he alluded to the health and

          10       safety legislation and the human rights legislation and

          11       talked about them infecting our culture.

          12           In your experience, and I assume -- you must

          13       enlighten us -- that you were in touch with the

          14       providers of private care in the course of this debate,

          15       is there considerable concern about the burdens that

          16       will be placed on bodies by being covered by the Human

          17       Rights Act?  If there is, do you think there is

          18       a greater role for ministers, political leaders like

          19       yourselves to enlighten private bodies about what is

          20       involved in fact and would you think that common

          21       sense -- I think that is a phrase you used earlier --

          22       would suggest that any provider of a service as

          23       fundamental to people's well being as a nursing home or

          24       a care home or a day centre would indeed wish to promote

          25       to the world that they respect their clients' and
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           1       patients' human rights rather than trying to avoid

           2       having to be accountable in that area?  Would you assume

           3       that in a dialogue with such homes that that point might

           4       be made and it might be possible to persuade people that

           5       they would wish to advertise they respect their clients'

           6       and patients' human rights rather than being perhaps

           7       frightened by statements like "an infection in our

           8       society" which might suggest to them that there are

           9       onerous burdens attached to providing the Human Rights

          10       Act?  It is quite hard to imagine what they might be.

          11           I would welcome your comments on that and then

          12       I have a very different type of question on this and

          13       then I will pass back to Nuala.

          14   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Without drifting into the realms of

          15       party politics, I do think what David Cameron said and

          16       the whole approach of the Conservative Party on this

          17       issue has been extremely damaging and downright

          18       reprehensible as someone who is an advocate for human

          19       rights, and I think the term infectious was, as well as

          20       being fundamentally wrong, I think really was just

          21       playing up to the sort of tabloid mentality that somehow

          22       human rights is all about, you know, prisoners getting

          23       compensation and it is not about ordinary people, which

          24       is palpably absurd.

          25           I think you are absolutely right that there is a job
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           1       to do to try to enlighten people who are private care

           2       providers, private healthcare providers in terms of

           3       demonstrating that it would be beneficial for them to

           4       show that they can guarantee -- and of course you know,

           5       I will say and I always say there are many, many

           6       wonderful private care homes delivering exceptional care

           7       up and down the country and long may that continue and,

           8       you know, it makes very little difference to an

           9       individual and their family who owns and who provides

          10       care.  What they are concerned about is the quality of

          11       care and is that individual being looked after properly

          12       and adequately and cared for in the case of older people

          13       towards the end of their life?

          14           But I do think whilst enlightenment and dialogue is

          15       important, I think this is an area where legislators --

          16       the Government has to put its foot down.  And my

          17       position is very simple and very clear.  If anyone's

          18       parent or grandparent is receiving care and being looked

          19       after I am not interested if it is in a private or

          20       a public or a voluntary sector.  I want to know that

          21       their human rights are guaranteed and that they will

          22       receive the kind of dignified care that any of us would

          23       demand that our families do.  And I am really not very

          24       interested in people trying to slip inside out of that,

          25       talking about regulation and burden.  Those things can
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           1       be looked at.  We are talking about the fundamental

           2       principle.

           3           I think it is equally absurd to suggest that a pupil

           4       at a private school could be abused simply because there

           5       is some claim that there is a contract not between that

           6       person's parents and the state, between that person's

           7       parents and the private school.

           8   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Interestingly some private

           9       schools did argue that they shouldn't be covered by the

          10       corporal punishment and they failed.

          11   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  Absolutely.  Similarly with private

          12       healthcare system and receiving abuse because abuse and

          13       neglect is done by human beings.  Should we simply say

          14       they don't have human rights because they have chosen to

          15       pay for their healthcare?  It is an arbitrary and an

          16       absurd distinction.  Everybody who receives any form of

          17       necessary care in this country through any provider

          18       should have their human rights properly and fully

          19       regarded and I think the phrase "public function" is in

          20       this day and age when we all accept that many, many what

          21       we used to call public services are delivered by the

          22       private sector and the voluntary sector to talk about

          23       a public function is ridiculous.

          24   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I suppose what I was getting at,

          25       Mr Mulholland, is have you had this exchange with
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           1       private providers of healthcare?  I am just interested

           2       in the quality.

           3   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I have been on the other side of the

           4       table, if you like, through other evidence sessions.

           5       I was involved with the All Party Parliamentary All

           6       Level Group talking about old people's issues in general

           7       so, yes, I have heard evidence and I have read

           8       submissions from care homes.

           9           I am afraid in this country there is often

          10       a knee-jerk reaction that any legislation means more

          11       regulation and of course it can and that is not

          12       necessarily a good thing.  But I am afraid to try to

          13       hide behind the regulation, the red tape argument here

          14       when we are facing the reality that in these very care

          15       homes that we are talking about, private care homes

          16       there are people who are not being fed properly, who are

          17       being left soiled in their sheets, I am sorry, it is

          18       Government's job and it is the law's job to protect

          19       those people and to protect them properly and that has

          20       to be the starting point.  And regardless of whether

          21       that argument is won or not with private care providers

          22       older people's rights must be properly and fully covered

          23       as part of any meaningful human rights framework.

          24   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  My final question on this was:

          25       your constituents and others you come across in your
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           1       capacity as Shadow Health Minister, presumably you were

           2       lobbied on this, lobbied for the change in the

           3       legislation and continue to lobby for it to be extended

           4       further.  In that context do you find that constituents

           5       or other lobbyists are talking the language of human

           6       rights and saying: my human rights have been breached or

           7       is there a more sort of general complaint in your

           8       translating it into a human rights solution?

           9   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  People certainly don't talk about the

          10       Human Rights Act very much in any context.  Nor would

          11       you expect them to.  And again, the challenge for

          12       legislators is to make human rights meaningful and

          13       I think "human rights framework" is probably

          14       a reasonably helpful phrase to use.

          15           What you do get is you do get people saying that

          16       someone's human rights have not been properly respected

          17       or that they have been breached.  Of course when someone

          18       comes to see their MP in terms of coming to their

          19       surgery to report something it will be a case where

          20       someone has faced the kind of things that we talked

          21       about, be it on a small or a larger scale, and I have

          22       had some cases of people coming to me reporting the most

          23       awful treatment.

          24           I had one particular case where someone's mother was

          25       exactly receiving the kind of neglectful care that you
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           1       will have heard other evidence of, of not being fed, of

           2       being given a completely inadequate diet, being told to

           3       help herself to food in the fridge which clearly was

           4       something that was not remotely possible and of

           5       understaffing and that was in a private care home, so it

           6       is happening.  It is happening in my constituency.  It

           7       will be happening in every other constituency.  And, as

           8       I say, very much a minority of cases but the point here

           9       these people are not covered.

          10   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Using the language of human rights were

          11       people lobbying you on these issues?

          12   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  In the sense of saying -- people will

          13       probably say: what about my mum's human rights?  That's

          14       the kind of phrase that they would use.

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I ask you a question, we have heard

          16       evidence about the use of the language of rights can be

          17       seen as confrontational, particularly by the medical

          18       profession who are accustomed to be decision makers on

          19       behalf of patients in their best interests and therefore

          20       they do not take kindly to the language of rights.  Is

          21       there any evidence you can give us in relation to that?

          22   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I don't think I can.  I'm aware

          23       obviously of that argument.  I don't think it is as

          24       prevalent in my experience than perhaps the question

          25       suggests.  I think most health professionals that I have
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           1       dealt with, and certainly -- of course being a Shadow

           2       Health Minister I have fairly regular contact with all

           3       the main representative organisations -- I certainly

           4       don't find a huge resistance to the idea of rights.

           5           I think rights can be confrontational or can

           6       potentially be often because of the misrepresentation,

           7       going back to some of the negative coverage, that it is

           8       about saying: I want my rights and people trying to

           9       demand rights which are not just.  I think that is the

          10       problem.

          11           The stories that seem to be covered about the Human

          12       Rights Act is the odd case where there is a rather

          13       unusual situation and it seems perverse that that is the

          14       interpretation of the Act.  Of course what doesn't get

          15       any coverage are the thousands and thousands and

          16       thousands of daily interpretations of the Act that are

          17       quite right and proper and that no, sane or sensible

          18       individual would ever query as being something that

          19       someone did have the rights to.

          20   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I perhaps just take you back to an

          21       expression you used earlier on which is the "chemical

          22       cosh" and you are concerned, you have told us, about

          23       older people.  And, you know, one of the issues which

          24       arises in the context of human rights language and the

          25       medical profession is the use of medication for older

                                            23

           1       people.

           2           Does that give rise to any issues that you wish to

           3       comment on at all?

           4   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think it is an area that clearly is

           5       a complex one and in the same way that it is a very

           6       complex issue when you are talking about people with

           7       terminal illnesses, and I suppose above all when you are

           8       talk about people with dementia because at the stage

           9       where an individual is no longer able to consent to

          10       treatment or really have any input into that process,

          11       but I think that is when human rights, the human rights

          12       framework, human rights approach becomes much more

          13       important, not less though accepting that it will become

          14       more challenging because when it is more challenging

          15       actually that it is more necessary.  It is less

          16       necessary when it is a fairly simple case of a perfectly

          17       sound-minded individual who is able to challenge and to

          18       demand full information and then make an informed

          19       decision.

          20           I think no one is suggesting that we have to

          21       challenge the process by which medical professionals

          22       take decisions about medication, but I use the word

          23       "chemical cosh" accepting that that is again a rather

          24       lurid way of putting it.  Though I think it is actually

          25       a fairly useful one.  But there are many cases showing
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           1       that those drugs are being administered for a purpose

           2       for which they are not prescribed.  So no one is getting

           3       in the way of doctors' rights to prescribe suitable

           4       medication.

           5           Of course the human rights process for that when

           6       done properly for someone with dementia who for someone

           7       who has not got the capacity to make those decisions or

           8       understand the information is to communicate fully with

           9       the individual's relatives, family or authorised persons

          10       and that is what will happen in every case.

          11           So doctors, medical professionals are taking full

          12       account whether they realise it or not of people's human

          13       rights and their family's human rights through that

          14       process.  But where there are situations where people

          15       are being given drugs which are not prescribed for that

          16       condition and clearly are being used just to sedate,

          17       just to suppress, just to make their life easier, and

          18       I accept that it is a very challenging area of work

          19       having to deal with people with dementia and I have seen

          20       some evidence of that myself, nevertheless that clearly

          21       is a breach of someone's human rights, and I think this

          22       is an example of where the human rights framework is

          23       working because we are aware of this and we are talking

          24       about it and we are able to identify the particular

          25       breach of human rights.
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           1           What is not happening is that the law doesn't seem

           2       to be working.  The framework is there but the law

           3       doesn't seem to be working to filter down to make sure

           4       that these things can't happen and that actually they

           5       become a clear breach of the legislation that is laid

           6       down in the statute books.

           7   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.

           8   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Really just to ask you about the

           9       role of the media and political climate we are operating

          10       in, in terms of advancing this agenda which you
          11       articulate so well and its potential utility.  How

          12       damaging do you think the sort of negative BDO reports,

          13       although they have trailed off a little bit in recent

          14       times, has been in pursuing the agenda and if you think

          15       it is damaging what more do you think the Government

          16       could do?  What more could political leaders like

          17       yourself do and what do you think we should do as the

          18       Commission?

          19   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think it is very damaging.  I think

          20       it is very regrettable.  I think it is extremely

          21       one-sided and I think it needs to be challenged as

          22       strongly as possible because a lot of the negative

          23       stories about the Human Rights Act actually have been

          24       about rather bizarre cases that have been brought and

          25       often those cases have failed and been thrown out of
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           1       court, and yet that is not reported.

           2           The fact that someone is trying to use the Human

           3       Rights Act and the presentation always is that their

           4       human rights allow this, not whether it is actually

           5       going to happen.  I think it is very damaging and

           6       I think it is an example of the media frankly abusing

           7       their power to follow their own political agenda which

           8       of course we do as politicians but I think the media

           9       should be more honest about the fact that they do it as

          10       well.

          11           I think really the way you can challenge it you have

          12       got to beat them at their own game and that is why

          13       talking about capacity building, embedding, which is

          14       a word I used myself earlier on, that is not helpful.

          15       This is the language of management speak and of

          16       legislators.

          17           All we need to be talking about is saying that it is

          18       wrong, that someone's mum, someone's grandmother is

          19       being neglected, is not getting the proper treatment.

          20       You know, we need to look at the examples of where

          21       people's human rights are not being properly respected

          22       and why.

          23           So I think we need to really be quite bold and quite

          24       blunt in talking about that and it very much isn't a, if

          25       you like, political tool of doing that, a party
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           1       political tool.  It is not, if I do that it is not first

           2       and foremost to attack the Government; it is to attack

           3       the fact that the legislation isn't necessarily being

           4       implemented right and in terms of the public function

           5       actually is flawed in the first place.

           6           And it certainly isn't to simply get lurid headlines

           7       about the worst cases of elder abuse, but it is very

           8       important to talk about ordinary, real experiences

           9       because, you know, they are real stories, the things

          10       that the media report, often rather inflated and rather

          11       distorted.

          12           But the best way I think is for all of us who

          13       believe in human rights agenda to be not afraid to bang

          14       our fist on the table and say: this is so essential so

          15       that every single person in this country, and I am

          16       talking about healthcare, knows when they go into any

          17       healthcare setting or receive healthcare at home that

          18       their rights as an individual are properly and fully

          19       respected as part of the whole make up of the health and

          20       social care system in this country, and most importantly

          21       that vulnerable people who are the ones whose human

          22       rights are still all too often not properly met, that

          23       those people must be properly covered, and that I don't

          24       want to have debates in the House of Commons many more

          25       times about having to listen to these cases.  Let us
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           1       change the law.  Let us bring these people fully and

           2       properly under the remit of the Human Rights Act.

           3           We certainly shouldn't be afraid to be proud of the

           4       fact that the human rights agenda has moved on hugely

           5       and we absolutely must resist any attempts to take us

           6       back for political posturing or for any other reason.

           7   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Thank you.

           8   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  That is very helpful.  Thank you very

           9       much indeed.  Is there anything you would like to add

          10       that we haven't asked you about?

          11   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think the only thing I don't think

          12       I have mentioned is the importance of training.

          13   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I think you did allude to it earlier on.

          14   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I think I did allude to it.  Again, the

          15       particular examples, the pilots, the projects that

          16       I think are successful are making sure that they train

          17       and involve.  It is not just training, it is very much

          18       involving and empowering their staff to see this as

          19       something which is relevant on a day-to-day basis.

          20       I think that is fundamentally important.  That has to be

          21       something not only happening in the huge NHS

          22       organisations but it also has to be something which is

          23       happening to every single person who is working in the

          24       care section.  That is a big challenge but I think that

          25       has to be part of the thinking.  For anyone who wants to
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           1       deliver care in any way that very much has to be part of

           2       their thinking, their approach.

           3   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.  That is most

           4       helpful.  Thank you for coming.

           5   MR GREG MULHOLLAND:  I didn't expect to be talking quite so

           6       long as that with others here but that was useful.

           7   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  The other witnesses went to the wrong

           8       location I am afraid.  So that is why you are on your

           9       own.

          10   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  We will have to see them

          11       separately unfortunately.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I will get more brownie points then

          13       coming to the right place, particularly travelling down

          14       from West Yorkshire.

          15    (11.20 am)

          16                  (The first session concluded)
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          18   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  First of all, can I formally thank you

          19       very much for coming to give evidence to the inquiry.

          20       Can I introduce my fellow commissioner, Professor

          21       Francesca Klug, who you may already know.  Professor

          22       Klug is the lead commissioner on the investigation.  She

          23       is a human rights expert, human rights legal expert.

          24       And my name is Dame Nuala O'Loan.  I am chairing the

          25       inquiry.
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           1           Our focus is on three things.  One is the extent to

           2       which the human rights culture has developed over the

           3       years since the passing of the Act.  The second, the

           4       barriers to such a culture developing.  We are trying to

           5       identify ways in which public authorities are managed to

           6       circumvent or to overcome the barriers so that we can

           7       share those; and the third thing we are trying to

           8       identify is good practice that we can share that and

           9       ways of promoting and fostering human rights.  Fourthly,

          10       we really want to know what more the Commission, the

          11       Government and public authorities can do to foster and

          12       promote the human rights culture.

          13           If there are any questions which you are asked to

          14       which you feel you can't give us a full answer today if

          15       you wanted to submit further evidence in writing we

          16       would be more than pleased.  We would be very pleased if

          17       it would happen within 14 days.

          18   MS MEG HILLIER:  Certainly I can pledge that, no problem.

          19   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  We did ask you whether you were prepared

          20       to give evidence in public because we have obligations

          21       to you and you indicated that you were.

          22   MS MEG HILLIER:  Yes.

          23   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  If that ceases to be the case perhaps

          24       you would bring it to my attention.

          25           We have a palantypist who is recording your evidence
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           1       and if you use acronyms or abbreviations could I ask you

           2       just to explain them so we get a really accurate record

           3       of your testimony.

           4   MS MEG HILLIER:  Yes.

           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  If you feel the need to ask me to

           6       clarify or Francesca to clarify a question which we put

           7       please feel free to do so.

           8           It is my custom to ask my witnesses if they wish to

           9       make an opening statement and if they do so to speak for

          10       about two minutes.

          11   MS MEG HILLIER:  It will be very brief if I may.  I am very

          12       pleased to be here.  It is actually rather nice to think

          13       in the round.  I am a human rights minister for the Home

          14       Office so this responsibility of mine covers the whole

          15       gamut of the responsibilities within the Home Office.

          16       So it does give me that chance to see things in a more

          17       philosophical way, if you like, as well as looking at

          18       very much the detailed practice of what the Home Office

          19       does.

          20           But I see my role very much as supporting and

          21       promoting human rights both within the Home Office and

          22       with staff training and so on but also in the work of

          23       the Home Office and its agencies.  I think the first

          24       leads to improvements in the latter and the work you are

          25       doing will helpfully help us to improve the practice.
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           1       I think we have some good practice.  But there are

           2       always things to improve and we deal with a very

           3       challenging area with the public on this.  We are like

           4       a see-saw really.  We have got the responsibility to

           5       look after the public as a whole and of course

           6       everyone's individual rights as well and so it is

           7       a balance we have to strike.

           8           I am obviously supported very much by officials and

           9       I know you have had Lin Homer 

10       our board level champion giving evidence.  She is the board director.

          11       And I hope all that information you received from them

          12       both orally and the information we previously sent in writing

          13       is useful.

          14           But it is not just me as a minister taking an interest.  The

          15       Police and Counter Terrorism Minister spoke to a group

          16       of Home Office staff at a training day as leaders, if

          17       you like, in the Home Office of human rights, and

          18       I think it behoves us all to show leadership on this

          19       issue.

          20           I have learnt since my 15 months or so as a minister

          21       that if a minister is interested in something it does

          22       take a higher priority and this is something that we

          23       feel quite strongly as a team of ministers that we need

          24       to set a tone to how things are done while balancing the

          25       difficulties that I discussed.
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           1           And we know that the European Convention and the

           2       Human Rights Act recognises the need for Government to

           3       act flexibly to ensure the protection of people and that

           4       is something that we balance every day in the Home

           5       Office.  For example, when dealing with suspected

           6       terrorists prosecution is always our preferred approach

           7       and will continue to be so.  Last night we saw some

           8       developments in that direction which I am happy to talk

           9       about, and we need to make sure we get that balance

          10       right and we are constantly striving to do that.

          11           I should just say in the opening statement that of course

          12       prohibition of torture is non-negotiable for us as

          13       a Government and as a Home Office.

          14           But we are fully committed to this and I am looking

          15       forward to hearing the outcome of this inquiry because

          16       I think that we can learn from you about how we can do

          17       things still better.  And over to you for questions.

          18   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.  That is most

          19       helpful.  And we do hope that the report will be useful

          20       to everyone.

          21           In your opening words there you talked about the

          22       leadership role really of ministers and the fact that

          23       when ministers pay attention a light shines.  And

          24       I would like to ask you really two things.  How would

          25       you assess the impact ten years on of the Human Rights
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           1       Act on Government and in particular on policy makers,

           2       and could you tell us a little more about how ministers

           3       would intend to exercise that leadership role in the

           4       future.

           5   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think the impact comes through in many

           6       ways and I think what we have got to always guard

           7       against though is the impact being seen as a tick box

           8       exercise, that people are on a training course, they

           9       have done their human rights training and they promptly

          10       forget it.  So what we have tried to do in the Home

          11       Office is embed training and development in this so it

          12       is part of everyday business.  So if you go on some

          13       training course you would have automatically human

          14       rights work embedded in that.

          15           There is a lot of work that goes on with

          16       availability of Home Office lawyers available on any

          17       subject.  Every bit of legislation and policy has human

          18       rights implications looked at.  It was the Home Office, of course, that

          20       drew up the Act originally, and in 2000 all staff then

          21       received training as a matter of course.  But we have

          22       progressed from then being given this specific training to training

          23       being given as the norm.  It is not a separate and

          24       special thing.  It is part of Home Office business to

          25       take account of human rights actions and that is
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           1       including the agencies like the UK Border Agency.

           2           And the second question was about ministers
           3       leadership role.

           4   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I wondered how you see that.

           5   MS MEG HILLIER:  If you heard, for example, some of the Home

           6       Secretary's comments last night about her responsibility

           7       to protect the right of life and the right not to be

           8       blown up.  She takes that role I know very seriously and

           9       I think that sets a tone for us all about the

          10       responsibility of the Home Office to be there to

          11       proactively promote that, and that is I think a very

          12       fundamental part of our role in the Home Office as well

          13       as taking into account every individual situation and

          14       the different maybe legal actions on that.

          15           We also take account of what the courts say, and

          16       because it is important that we continually clarify in

          17       our difficult area of work how the Human Rights Act

          18       should be applied. Going to court,

          19       especially on more difficult cases is important.  So we as ministers

          20       will sanction that because I think it is

          21       important that we do test what we are doing against the

          22       law and the best place to do that is very often in

          23       court.

          24           We are often criticised for legal actions for

          25       contesting them but I think it is an important
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           1       part as our role as ministers to make sure we are

           2       testing what we are doing in that environment.

           3   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay.  Can I just take you to a couple

           4       of specifics in terms of evidence I have received in the

           5       course of this inquiry.

           6           The minister Mr Michael Wills told us yesterday that

           7       the essence of the Human Rights Act is that people's

           8       humanity entitles them to Human Rights Act protection.

           9       That was a very clear.  But we have heard evidence when

          10       dealing with a number of refugees the Home Office will

          11       not refer to people preferring the term "units", and

          12       when I challenged the witness who was talking about "bed

          13       spaces" and I said: is it possible the Home Office is

          14       referring to bed spaces?  They said no, they have never

          15       used the term, it is always units.  And I suppose I must

          16       ask you: is that consistent with your department's human

          17       rights approach?

          18   MS MEG HILLIER:  I am puzzled because I don't recognise that

          19       phraseology I must say.

          20   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I thought you might not.

          21   MS MEG HILLIER:  Probably "bed spaces" is a phrase I have

          22       heard used occasionally but we are normally talking

          23       about numbers of people and we may categorise in terms

          24       of nationality, gender.  But I think it is important

          25       that we have a monitoring.  It is a question we as
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           1       ministers would tend to ask.  People's
           2       backgrounds are involved in this but I don't recognise

           3       the description of units.  I am happy to go back and see

           4       whether that is used anywhere and if there is any way you

           5       can just point us to where that evidence was pointing.

           6   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Yes, I think we certainly can do that,

           7       yes.  It is quite interesting to me doing this inquiry

           8       now, and before I make this statement I recognise the

           9       fact that the inquest into the death of Jean Charles de

          10       Menezes is running, but notwithstanding that, policing

          11       is not coming forward during the course of this inquiry.

          12       It is a matter of human rights issues.  That would have

          13       been the case I think in the past but we are actually

          14       not hearing from witnesses’ significant concern in that

          15       respect.

          16           We have two I think particular areas of concern and

          17       one is healthcare and care of younger children, care of

          18       vulnerable people which you would expect.  The second

          19       area relates to the UK Border Agency and there is one

          20       specific piece of evidence which I received which

          21       referred to a visit by the Children's Commissioner for

          22       Wales to one of the locations to which people are taken

          23       and held.

          24           And they talked about the situation in which UK BA

          25       staff go to take people for deportation and children --
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           1       the allegation which was made to me was that when they

           2       go in and they want to take children and parents the UK

           3       BA staff will not allow the parents to go into the

           4       children's bedroom but that the children are lifted from

           5       their beds by staff woken up and lifted from their beds,

           6       and a significant concern was expressed about that and

           7       I suspect this is another thing which you might want to

           8       take away but I thought I should bring it to your

           9       attention.

          10   MS MEG HILLIER:  There has been an awful lot of change in

          11       the way we deal with children.  In fact the previous

          12       immigration minister (Liam Byrne MP) took a very

          13       personal interest, and this again is where leadership

          14       can make a difference, and a children's champion's role

          15       was created at the UK Border Agency. I think we

          16       recognised we weren't always getting it right.  I think

          17       we would all acknowledge that.

          18           So a number of changes have taken place both in

          19       detention and removal.  As you perhaps rightly suggest, I

          20       can't specifically answer the question you raise but

          21       I do know that at every removal where children are

          22       involved there is a social worker present, usually

          23       someone fully trained in handling issues around

          24       children.  And anything like that that takes place is

          25       planned in the full knowledge that a child is present
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           1       and a discussion about how that situation will be

           2       handled.

           3           It is possible that an example -- if you have more

           4       details it would be helpful to know even if it is

           5       anonymous details that it may have been that the

           6       information provided was there was some issue about

           7       allowing a parent access to a child in particular for

           8       some reason, so I wouldn't want to comment on that until

           9       I had more information.  But they are all dealt with

          10       within a very strong framework.  But then there will be

          11       certain individual circumstances which will be taken

          12       into account and it is not our intention to take

          13       children and detain people in that way.

          14           Often talk is made of dawn raids.  We don't do that

          15       now.  We have looked a lot at detaining children in

          16       different ways.  Having family centres.  There has been

          17       a project in Kent and in Scotland where families are

          18       looked after together in a sort of “village” environment

          19       while their case is looked through, sorted through. But

          20       we do know that, for example, when we have offered

          21       parents the chance to leave voluntarily and turn up at

          22       the airport with their children when they are going to

          23       be deported very few turn up.

          24           So we use detention in the circumstances in very few

          25       circumstances, when an individual child, perhaps
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           1       a teenager is an unaccompanied asylum seeker, maybe for

           2       one night possibly two, as a protection issue if there

           3       is nowhere suitable to put that child overnight,

           4       depending when they present and so they may need to be

           5       put into a detention centre for their own protection.

           6           Children are put with their parents to keep the

           7       family together.  And it is for as limited a time as

           8       possible.  The Minister of State for immigration has  direct ministerial oversight for any

           9       extension of detention of a child over 28 days and I know my ministerial

          10       colleagues who have that responsibility take it very

          11       seriously.

          12           And those children have access to healthcare and

          13       education and an Ofsted assured nursery provision within

          14       detention centres.

          15           We are still always trying to improve things and any

          16       suggestions about how we get that better are welcome.  But

          17       I think it is important to stress that we have

          18       a responsibility as the Home Office, as the UK Border

          19       Agency to make sure that we have a robust immigration

          20       system in place.  We have rules.  We have to be fair

          21       with those rules but in applying those fair rules

          22       sometimes unfortunately we have to detain children.  Of

          23       course we don't need to detain children.  It is because

          24       parents refuse to leave that we end up detaining

          25       children with them.  The only other option in these circumstances would be to
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           1       detain the parents and not the children which I think

           2       frankly would be much worse.

           3   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I wanted to really ask you to comment on

           4       this balancing act which the Government have to do in

           5       terms of its absolute commitment to upholding the

           6       international human rights framework and its obligations

           7       to protect the general public against terrorism.  The

           8       Joint Committee on Human Rights has actually pointed out

           9       that the human rights legislation obliges Government to

          10       take steps to protect the lives of all its citizens.

          11           There is a statement which has caused me some

          12       concern by the shadow conservative Shadow Secretary of

          13       State for Justice saying that the Human Rights Act has

          14       hampered and undermined Parliament and yet done little

          15       to protect traditional civil liberties.

          16            (Quotation read of Nick Herbert's speech)

          17                      (See briefing paper)

          18           And I wondered if you could comment on Nick

          19       Herbert's statement and whether you think that the DCA

          20       review that it hasn't seriously impeded the achievement

          21       of Government's objectives on crime, terrorism or

          22       immigration reflects the current state of affairs.

          23   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think, as I have expressed already, there

          24       are always going to be areas we test and challenge and

          25       I think no more so than in the Home Office and through
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           1       Home Office agencies because we are there very much to

           2       protect the public.

           3           We feel that we can do both.  We will often be

           4       testing and challenging, but there are going to be

           6       new and challenging cases, and situations will arise but

           7       Parliament passed the Human Rights Act. It was

           8       a parliamentary decision to do that. It went through

           9       that scrutiny process and I think that it is very clear

          10       to me and to us in the Government that it is being very

          11       valuable in helping to focus Parliament's sight on human

          12       rights through all the work and legislation that goes

          13       through not just within the Home Office.

          14           There are interesting challenging areas, that often

          15       when we challenge in court policies  we are trying to implement it is

          17       not actually on human rights grounds  and hopefully

          18       out of this inquiry and the work when you make

          19       recommendations you make the Commission itself will work hard to

          20       try and myth bust really.  Too often people cite the

          21       Human Rights Act as a reason we can't do things.

          22       I suspect some of what Nick Herbert is saying is

          23       reflecting that the confusion.  I am not suggesting he

          24       is confused generally but it is a bit like the straight

          25       banana in Brussels.  The myths come out too often.
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           It 

           4       is important we are straight about when it is a human

           5       rights issue that is at debate and when it is other

           6       parts of the law that are being debated.

           7           Quite often it is quite technical parts of the law

           8       and very technical detail and even on quite established

           9       media the simple headline is to say: human rights

          10       challenge.  And I think that is a concern for us because

          11       it undermines the valuable work of the Human Rights Act

          12       quite considerably and it is not very helpful all round.

          13   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  We will come back to the media.

          14       I wanted to ask you one final question in that general

          15       area and it is about this balancing that Government have

          16       to do and it is about the articulation, for example,

          17       that article 2, article 3 are absolute.  And I wanted to

          18       ask you, do you think there is a responsibility on those

          19       involved in the public debate, which clearly includes

          20       ministers, to articulate that role, to articulate that

          21       fact that all these rights are not absolute rights,

          22       there are qualifications to so many of them?

          23   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think it would be a luxury if we all felt

          24       we were in a position where people would listen to that

          25       subtlety to be perfectly frank.  Interestingly as
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           1       a minister we can say those things but people tend to

           2       listen less to that sort of argument than waiting for

           3       a minister to make a mistake, or maybe I'm being

           4       cynical.

           5           So yes, in short but I think it is a luxury position

           6       to be in where we would be debating.  In most normal

           7       environments the balance -- for example, I was in my

           8       constituency at a meeting hosted by Amnesty

           9       International.  I was one of five other speakers on the

          10       platform discussing asylum and immigration.  Very little

          11       subtlety got through in a meeting where I was trying to explain where the

          13       Government was and there was a range of people with a different point of view to me but a range of points of

          15       view, characterised as the opposite side “of the fence”.

          16       Trying to get into that subtlety in that environment was

          17       not very easy and I am not sure how well we can do that

          18       in practice though in principle, yes, I would agree we

          19       do need to do that.

          20           On article 3 we can keep reiterating our position, of course.

          21       There are with article 2 exceptions,  internationally, 

          22       not just in the UK. Any state can take life          23   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  There are exceptions.

          24   MS MEG HILLIER:  But none that particularly come from the

          25       UK.
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           1   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I am just thinking, for example,

           2       ministers are invited to make an awful lot of speeches

           3       and attend an awful lot of occasions and I just wondered

           4       to what extent it might be helpful to have, if you like,

           5       a philosophy or an action plan which would say that

           6       possible reference will be made to human rights on

           7       appropriate occasions and that where possible it will be

           8       a clear allusion which will help gradually to spread

           9       a clear message about human rights.

          10   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think there would be no harm in trying.

          11       It is interesting, when I am trying to get messages

          12       across from the Home Office we can put those messages in

          13       but it does depend very much on the nature of the

          14       speech.  And I know when I am provided with information

          15       before I make a speech I work out carefully what the

          16       audience is and what will resonate, so those lines can

          17       be put in.  Whether it would work in every case.  But I

          18       don't think there would be any harm in trying that.

          19           I think the best way in a way of doing it is to

          20       illustrate it in relation to the specific audience and

          21       the specific issue you are discussing.  A general

          22       statement about human rights I think in the middle of

          23       a debate --

          24   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  It is focusing.

          25   MS MEG HILLIER:  If it would be focused on the work, which
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           1       for the Home Office we would be saying quite a lot but

           2       for other departments -- I can imagine talking to

           3       a group of school children it may not come up quite so

           4       much.

           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  And yet there is a project for school

           6       children which is UNICEF funded and there is a project

           7       in Hampshire which we have looked at which has produced

           8       some very interesting results in terms of the children

           9       are taught rights and responsibilities and they get a

          10       reduction from absentees and very positive results.  So

          11       for school children particularly it is an interesting

          12       project we think.

          13   MS MEG HILLIER:  It is interesting because I know when

          14       politicians of all sides, not just ministers have tried

          15       to raise more philosophical debates it gets maybe

          16       a flurry of headlines on a very rare occasion if someone

          17       resigns their seat or something in a dramatic way, but

          18       actually a lot of the time that subtlety doesn't get

          19       across because it is a fact that if you are a minister

          20       and you speak, people are more interested in things you

          21       are saying wrong or policy announcements you may be

          22       hinting at than the subtle arguments and this is one of

          23       the reasons I am very pleased to be here today.  Maybe

          24       I am lulled into a false sent of security but it is

          25       quite nice to talk about things in the round because we
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           1       get very little opportunity to do that.  So I am not

           2       disagreeing with what you say but I think the practical

           3       outcomes of that may be debatable, but I suppose it

           4       would be a starting point.

           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I will pass you to Francesca who I think

           6       will revisit the question.

           7   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Certainly, but I want to ask you

           8       following from on from this conversation, Michael Wills

           9       the Human Rights Minister of the MOJ said to us

          10       yesterday that he was very proud of the Human Rights

          11       Act. Would you put it in those terms?

          12   MS MEG HILLIER:  Yes, I think so because I think -- for

          13       example, I mentioned the issue about children in

          14       detention.  It has added impact.  Actually it wasn't

          15       just the Human Rights Act. I think any human gut

          16       instinct to look at how we deal with children in the

          17       immigration system would say as human beings we need to

          18       look at that but the Human Rights Act has helped as

          19       a driver in that.

          20           So I think you can pinpoint a number of examples.

          21       As we know in the Home Office there are times when we

          22       are challenged on these issues but that is important as

          23       well I think because it is important that through that

          24       process of challenge we get things better and right.  So

          25       we have got that role to protect the public, to
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           1       proactively promote, if you like, people's rights not to

           2       be killed and right to a life and I think that we can

           3       promote that positively but at the same time we do

           4       challenge around the areas where we are getting this

           5       balance between protecting the public and sometimes that

           6       means curtailing the liberty of other people.

           7   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  We have heard evidence from

           8       a number of witnesses, some of which are in your area

           9       such as APCO Prison Inspectors, London Probation Centre,

          10       Prison Officers, some in each area, where they have been

          11       very candid that they find the human rights framework,

          12       precisely because of the points Nuala was making about

          13       balancing, very useful but they do so in the context of

          14       not a great deal of political leadership.

          15           So I am not sure that everyone out there, and I am

          16       not talking about right at this moment -- as you say,

          17       the media interest doesn't tend to be there,

          18       I understand that, when you say something generally good

          19       and positive or philosophical.

          20   MS MEG HILLIER:  You have read my cynicism.

          21   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  But public officials are coming

          22       at this in a different way and they are not relying on

          23       the media for a sense of where we are at and they look

          24       for guidance, and we can say from the evidence we have

          25       heard that many public officials get the impression that
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           1       this Government is terribly proud of its Human Rights

           2       Act. I think they are not sure what the political

           3       message is to be frank.  It appears sometimes and

           4       disappears others and it promotes.  And I wonder what

           5       your comment is on that.

           6   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think it is fair comment that the

           7       difference between me saying at minister level we lead and how others see that.

           8       For example, I am responsible for the passport service.

           9       There are passport offices up and down the UK in the three

          10       nations as well as Peterborough, Liverpool and London so

          11       those staff are at the front line.  They don't

          12       see the minister saying these things on a day-to-day

          13       basis.  Are we really going to reach those people?  On

          14       a day-to-day people they are actually grappling with the

          15       reality of the Human Rights Act.  So I can say there may

          16       be a frustration of having to get to grips with it.  So

          17       whether the training will provide it -- it is another

          18       bit of regulation.

          19           If you take the UK Border Agency, the amount of

          20       legislation that people have to take into account, then

          21       you have got thousands of individual, often relatively

          22       junior case workers, having to implement these laws.  It

          23       is a bit like: bend over, here is another thing coming

          24       at you.  I suspect that may be the case.  That is part

          25       of it but also what I said at the beginning about a lot
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           1       of people misunderstanding what is a human right because

           2       it is too easy to pick up on those simple things over,

           3       oh, it's a human rights issue.  Not if you unpack it.

           4           It is important that we do try and explain it better

           5       and I'm hoping that between the Commission and the

           6       recommendation you make and thereby hopefully improving

           7       the way we do things in Government we can all work to

           8       sell these things better.  I am really excited to see

           9       hear about these things in schools.

          10           And I have to say as a former journalist I don't

          11       think everything in the papers is wrong.

          12   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  You mentioned the Home Secretary

          13       last night talking about the right to life in the

          14       context of the terrorism debate.  This is just

          15       a straight question: did she mention that the right to

          16       life was in the Human Rights Act as well as the rights

          17       of suspects and detainees?

          18   MS MEG HILLIER:  She didn't mention the Human Rights Act

          19       precisely, I can't remember for sure, but she talked

          20       about no greater individual liberty than the liberty of

          21       individuals not to be blown up on the British streets or

          22       British skies.

          23   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Absolutely.  We had this

          24       discussion, did we not, yesterday with Michael Wills?

          25       That can sound to the uneducated ear as if there is, in
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           1       a sense, an opposition here or certainly a separation

           2       here between concerns about safety and concerns about

           3       liberty and one of the benefits which APCO tested on the

           4       human rights framework is an attempt to look at this in

           5       the round.  It doesn't provide all the answers but it

           6       suggests a way forward of approaching these thorny

           7       dilemmas between safety and detention of suspects, that

           8       is actually often the concern more than people who are

           9       convicted is people who are suspected.  That is what

          10       made it such a difficult issue because many of them will

          11       be innocent.

          12           But the human rights framework which your Government

          13       discusses as the Human Rights Act provides a way to

          14       which these questions can be asked and I suppose one

          15       doesn't hear too often ministers in opportunities that

          16       present themselves like this where you have got the

          17       media spotlights making that clear, and so one isn't

          18       totally surprised that public officials then say: we

          19       think we're meant to be doing this but political

          20       leadership isn't always there in the way we would like

          21       it to be.

          22   MS MEG HILLIER:  I hesitate to speak for the Home Secretary

          23       who said this last night, and I have not discussed this

          24       with her since, but I do know she very strongly believes

          25       and feels her responsibility about protection of the
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           1       public and protection of right to life, but I read that

           2       comment as very much saying: this is my job, and it is

           3       not putting it as one or the other.  I mean she gives

           4       more detail in her statement but also in many statements

           5       she has made about the issue that was being debated last

           6       night, in is stressing that the balance. As Home

           7       Secretary she really fought to make sure there were more

           8       safeguards in place for the suspect in order to make

           9       sure she also maintained her responsibility to have that

          10       wider public protection of right to life and liberty.

          11           So I think she has actually done a very good job of

          12       balancing that and articulating it very well.  Of course

          13       these things get characterised through sound bites.

          14       I doubt it got more than a few seconds in the media last

          15       night.

          16   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I don't dispute any of that but

          17       the point I was about to ask you about is the role of

          18       ministers and myth busting.  This is an issue you

          19       helpfully brought up.  Whilst I would be very keen to

          20       get your response to what you think ministers might have

          21       in myth busting and the media and what role we as the

          22       Commission should have, in a sense all the myth busting

          23       in the world won't necessarily alter people's perception

          24       of what human rights are if they assume it is all about

          25       the liberty of suspects or indeed convicted criminals
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           1       rather than a framework which addresses the human rights

           2       of all of us which is the right to life so we will never

           3       bust if we don't get the framework presented in an

           4       appropriate way and that is what I was getting at and

           5       wanting your response on.

           6   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think that debate actually did I think,

           7       talk about that.  The framework was debated quite widely

           8       at all levels actually.  And I think it was quite well

           9       articulated by the Home Secretary, that she has this

          10       wide responsibility but she strove to get the balance

          11       between all rights, so the rights of suspects, the

          12       rights of members of the public and so on and making

          13       sure that that balance is there.

          14           Again, you know, it becomes something when you are

          15       dealing with day-to-day business in the Home Office you

          16       are trying to make sure that everything is compliant,

          17       and I have registered the children's issue before as

          18       a good example, and getting that balance right.  It is

          19       quite difficult to have the time, and that sounds rather

          20       pathetic, to have the time to articulate the wider

          21       framework but so often it is picked out as a sound bite

          22       here or there and it really is -- if you write

          23       a thoughtful argument that is the only time you get the

          24       chance to lay your argument out in the round.  Anything

          25       else, I know from experience, is picked apart very
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           1       quickly.  And we have got into that our ourselves and I think

           2       bits of the media -- as a former journalist I wouldn't

           3       want to condemn all the media. It is of course

           4       a legitimate role to question things but we have perhaps

           5       gone into a spiral where we have things feeding more stories. If you have a story about a dog attacking someone 

           7       you will have a flurry of stories like that which would

           8       get higher headlines than they would the week before and

           9       I think we have got into a bit of that in the Human

          10       Rights Act.  They will find something to do with the

          11       Human Rights Act and put that up as the Human Rights Act

          12       not protecting you but protecting the bad person.  And

          13       actually it is important that we get the balance right,

          14       and I think on this issue actually the Home Secretary

          15       did articulate it very well.

          16   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I just wanted very briefly, if I may,

          17       you talk about the language of human rights, minister,

          18       and that is a subject which I think is profoundly

          19       important.  Over the last ten years human rights has

          20       been portrayed I think in language such as "dignity" and

          21       "respect" and "fairness" and things like that.  And

          22       I wonder whether you would like to consider to what

          23       extent that has actually represented the growth of an

          24       understanding of actually what these rights are about.

          25       If you talk for example about degrading treatment or the
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           1       right to privacy perhaps that means a little more.

           2           And there is a huge debate among witnesses from whom

           3       we have heard about whether we should stay with fairness

           4       and dignity and respect or whether we should move on to

           5       something which is more substantive and clearer.

           6   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think they are different things.  I think

           7       fairness, dignity and respect would certainly

           8       characterise the work we are doing but they are not

           9       human rights in the same way.  We have very few rights

          10       actually.  We have a lot of entitlements and there is

          11       a basic code of behaviour that we expect and it is about

          12       that balance between rights and responsibilities and it

          13       is something -- I mean, as Michael Wills no doubt talked

          14       to you about, the discussions around the proposed Bill of Rights and Responsibilities

          15       stress that need for balance.

          16           It would be interesting when I read the report about

          17       what other witnesses have said, but my personal view is

          18       that that may well have led to confusion because we have

          19       watered down what actually the Human Rights Act is about

          20       and made it seem that it applies to every little tiny

          21       thing that applies in our everyday lives and actually it

          22       doesn't.  A lot of that is about codes of practice,

          23       about legal requirements, about basic fairness and

          24       decency and that is not the same issue as human rights.

          25   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I think one of the emerging things from
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           1       this inquiry, from the evidence I have heard is about

           2       the fact that those organisations, which have taken

           3       human rights and mainstreamed it are the organisations

           4       which are not facing the same problems as those who are

           5       using more soft language.  So I am interested to know

           6       your views there.

           7   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Just going back to the myth

           8       busting then.  You are here to talk to us as Minister of

           9       the Home Office but I can't help wanting to plunder your

          10       experience as a former journalist as well in seeking

          11       your views on what you think is an appropriate approach

          12       to myth busting or responding to the media climate both

          13       from the point of minister and our point: what do you

          14       think we should be doing?

          15   MS MEG HILLIER:  I think being proactive is important.  It

          16       is important to be reactive and we all take

          17       a responsibility or should do to challenge wrong

          18       statements that are made and actually say: this isn't

          19       right, even if it is not getting printed.  It is putting

          20       it on record in newspapers and broadcasting.  It is just

          21       making those individuals think and develop the corporate

          22       responsibility of any of the media outlets we have.

          23           But actually proactive work I think is important and

          24       we would welcome your recommendations on this.  Because

          25       in Government it is very easy to be defensive a lot of
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           1       the time because you feel quite often under attack but

           2       actually we are trying to become more proactive about

           3       what we are doing in the Home Office on a range of

           4       issues, and whether

           5       the media has an appetite for it is another question.

           6           We all know that, and I know I from talking to

           7       journalists, they will have an editorial line that is

           8       established and will we get that through that on this

           9       issue?  But it is when we have good human stories that

          10       explain this happened because of the Human Rights Act.

          11       And actually that is quite difficult to pin down

          12       sometimes, individual human stories in that way which

          13       I think is a good way of selling it.  People understand

          14       that.  It makes it very much at their level.

          15   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I think it is particularly

          16       difficult for you.  In the Home Office environment

          17       because as you say you are sometimes challenging at

          18       least through the courts human rights issues and

          19       I understand the reason that you gave earlier as to why

          20       you would do that.  Sometimes the results from your

          21       point of view are not ones you would wish.  Sometimes

          22       I would imagine you think: well actually this is

          23       possibly a gain for the citizen.  I mean, for example,

          24       they are doing a number of cases where under the Human

          25       Rights Act, under the right to life and protection, the
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           1       very thing that is at the heart of your business, as it

           2       were, a number of individuals have won a right to have

           3       a death investigated or an inquest to give reasons and

           4       a whole series of recognition of the pain that the

           5       victim has been through they wouldn't have had otherwise

           6       or didn't have before the Human Rights Act.

           7           That would be very fertile territory in a way for

           8       your department, for you as ministers to say: look, this

           9       has improved.  People have the right to have reasons

          10       given.  They have the right to have an unexplained death

          11       investigated and that is not just -- for example, there

          12       was a huge scandal, you may remember, when Anthony Rice

          13       was let out of prison on licence and went on to murder

          14       Naomi Bryant and at the time it was said in the press:

          15       it is because of the Human Rights Act that he was given

          16       parole, and in fact the inspector of probation, Anthony

          17       Bridge questioned that.  He said: that is not what it

          18       says here in my report.

          19           In reality what actually then went on to happen is

          20       using human rights arguments it never made it to court

          21       though it might have.  Mrs Bryant won the right of

          22       a thorough investigation using the Human Rights Act.

          23           This kind of story filtered out I think, perhaps you

          24       might agree, would begin to change the climate under the

          25       Human Rights Act but it doesn't partly because perhaps,
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           1       can I put to you, of a reluctance within Government to

           2       actually acknowledge in a sense you are being challenged

           3       by using the Act that you introduced in order to allow

           4       these challenges.

           5   MS MEG HILLIER:  I don't think we are reluctant.  I am also

           6       a Minister for Freedom of Information which is more

           7       recent legislation where all the time we are providing

           8       information.  In fact we have a fairly open approach in

           9       the Home Office.  We are quite happy to provide

          10       information and we are very positive about our role

          11       there, and the officials take a very clear

          12       responsibility about making sure we release as much as

          13       we can.

          14           So I think on this we are not reluctant.  I just

          15       think it is in the cut and thrust of day-to-day

          16       business.  Perhaps it is for others who have fought that

          17       battle in a way to press those positives more in the

          18       round.  I think they often get devalued by what we were

          19       discussing earlier, that some of these other issues like

          20       fairness and so on are wrapped up as human rights.  They

          21       are not and I think it really is difficult one.  It is

          22       a challenge for us all about how we differentiate what

          23       is a human right and what is not.  And the reality

          24       clearly is that the Human Rights Act is a very high

          25       level right and threshold and not day-to-day; it is not

                                            60

           1       about day-to-day activities as much as people seem to

           2       think it is.

           3   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  The final question which is

           4       really about the role of the Human Rights Act in

           5       Parliament.  The quote that Nuala gave to you earlier

           6       from Nick Herbert about how in his view Human Rights Act

           7       undermined Parliament.  I wonder in your point of view

           8       whether there is any validity in this and whether you

           9       feel that Parliament is --

          10   MS MEG HILLIER:  It is an interesting philosophical question

          11       as to whether if you take his argument on face value,

          12       but I think it is ridiculous to say that because it is

          13       Parliament which voted to make the Human Rights Act law.  It was

          14       a vote.  It didn't have to happen and I think it is

          15       going to crazy thinking to say: well, actually we don't

          16       like it now so we are now arguing it is limiting

          17       Parliament, and it is Parliament itself which voted to do that.  So I think it

          18       is a very illogical argument.  He obviously has the

          19       right to differ.

          20           I think I mentioned about the importance of 

          21       having that Act on the statute books.  It is

          22       interesting.  I have not that long been an MP.  Members

          23       of Parliament do often refer to other bits of

          24       legislation when they are talking about issues and we

          25       often hear about the Human Rights Act in general debate
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           1       and if we didn't have it we would perhaps hear about

           2       rights in general, but actually we have it there

           3       enshrined in law.  It is not just the European

           4       Convention.  It is actually in British domestic

           5       legislation and I think that is quite important.

           6   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  When Nick Herbert, the leader of

           7       the Conservative Party, leader of the opposition have

           8       made these points they have gone on to say we need

           9       a Bill of Rights in order to correct them.  In their

          10       view the difficulties of the human rights is the reason

          11       why they say we need a British Bill of Rights.

          12           That policy always emanated from the Government as

          13       a policy to consult on in the future.  What is your view

          14       on that?

          15   MS MEG HILLIER:  We have got a green paper coming up

          16       soon so this is going to be debated about how that

          17       happens, but it is Government priority to have a Bill of

          18       Rights and Responsibilities.  It is 

          19       important, that

          21       we are balancing a lot of the time rights and

          22       responsibilities and so I think it is important that

          23       both are enshrined.  I think there are very few

          24       inalienable rights, but actually there are a lot of

          25       responsibilities for other privileges or entitlements
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           1       that we have as citizens and so I think that it is

           2       important to remember.

           3           It is going to be a green paper so there will be time for lots of debate

           4       and I know with these things there is a debate often

           5       about very tiny details because we do need to look

           6       through to make sure we don't get any perverse outcomes,

           7       but that is the same as any legislation.  I don't see

           8       any problem with it at all.  I think also it has to be

           9       take into account, the Human Rights Act.  

          10       Sometimes I am glad I am not a lawyer

          11       because I think it is going to be a lot of work for

          12       lawyers to get those balances working but there is

          13       a Government commitment to it.  I am not sure of the

          14       exact timetable.  Michael Wills will obviously give you

          15       more detail because he is the lead minister in

          16       Government.  So we look forward to it coming.  I know

          17       the Prime Minister is very personally committed, so

          18       from the top down we have a commitment.

          19   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I was just trying to draw from

          20       you -- this is my final question -- as to why you might

          21       think we need to need to move to a Bill of Rights and

          22       Responsibilities if you don't share the view of the

          23       Leader of the Opposition, the Shadow Justice Minister.

          24   MS MEG HILLIER:  He comes from the premise that there is

          25       something wrong with the Human Rights Act which I
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           1       don't -- we don't in Government.  It is more about

           2       making it clear that there is a balance between rights

           3       and responsibilities I think.  And that enshrining

           4       rights -- in a way it is a lower level of rights.

           5       Because the Human Rights Act is very high level but

           6       there are other rights that citizens can have through

           7       a Bill of Rights balanced with responsibilities that

           8       British citizens have.

           9           And some of the work we do in the Home Office on

          10       citizenship and immigration we have been doing a lot of

          11       discussion out of road shows and talking to the public

          12       directly about what they think is fair and right and

          13       decent and it comes back to the comments on fairness and

          14       decency and some of these things may become enshrined.

          15       I don't want to be predictive on this because I am not

          16       going to be involved in all detailed negotiations.  

          17       

          18           So it should complement the Human Rights Act and it

          19       is going to be very British in flavour, if you like;

          20       whereas the human rights enshrined a European convention

          21       in British law.  So I think we are looking at

          22       different levels and I think the Conservatives may have

          23       to talk to you themselves.  They are talking about

          24       a different Bill of Rights to the one proposed by the

          25       Government but I will let them speak for themselves.
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           1   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Thank you very much.

           2   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I just have one final question,

           3       minister, and it really relates to the issue of human

           4       rights in immigration removal centres which are run by a

           5       private sector company.  You will be aware of the YL

           6       case in health and social care and the proposed

           7       amendment to the legislation there.  I just wondered if

           8       you would like to say a word or two about the role of

           9       Government in ensuring that private sector companies

          10       both understand and implement their obligations in terms

          11       of the contractual provisions.

          12   MS MEG HILLIER:  Of course detention centres come under the

          13       Chief Inspector of Prisons.  Outside scrutiny as well as

          14       normal scrutiny in Government is important.  But our

          15       contracts require certain things of any contractor.  So

          16       where there is any problem it is important that we do

          17       take sanctions and make proper investigation.

          18           I have always believed that the levers of democratic

          19       power can be moved in many different ways and it doesn't

          20       mean direct control by the Government to do things.  As

          21       long as we have control over what is happening it is not

          22       necessary to be Government employees directly dealing

          23       with it.  I think we take it as seriously as we would in

          24       any institution where Government directly employed

          25       officials do the business, any complaints or issues
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           1       seriously.

           2           But you know, a lot of these people are working in

           3       very challenging environments and there will be

           4       difficult situations and we need to also make sure that

           5       the rights are balanced, so that where

           6       employers are dealing with distressing situations or

           7       where they are having force applied to them by somebody

           8       in a situation we can make sure we get that right.

           9           In terms of healthcare there are very clear rules

          10       about access to healthcare, access to a GP, access to

          11       secondary level healthcare where necessary and any

          12       alleged infringements of that we take very seriously.

          13   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can you just tell me finally then, has

          14       Government provided any guidance in relation to the

          15       human rights obligations of private sector contractors?

          16   MS MEG HILLIER:  I'm pretty sure we have.  

          17       

          18       I have previously looked into this and I'm fairly clear

          19       we have done some work in that area but I think it is

          20       best to write to you with the details.

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much for coming.

          22   MS MEG HILLIER:  Thank you.

          23   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Is there anything you wanted to add?

          24   MS MEG HILLIER:  Only really just to stress again that

          25       I hope we can continue to work together.  We are very
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           1       much looking forward to the outcome of the inquiry and,

           2       you know, getting a better understanding.  Ten years on

           3       we have a lot of misunderstanding.  It hampers us all

           4       I think in what we are trying to achieve.  If we are

           5       going to have this debate about the Bill of Rights

           6       I think it is even more important we get it straight

           7       what the Human Rights Act is about so that we can have

           8       that debate and we will look to learn from you.  We

           9       aren't afraid to be challenged.  We think we have some

          10       good practices in the Home Office but we are keen to

          11       always hear and learn from what people say about what we

          12       are doing in order to improve things we are doing still

          13       further.

          14   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much indeed.  Thank you.

          15    (12.30 pm)

          16                  (The second session concluded)
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          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I would like to thank you very much,

          18       Ann, for coming to give evidence to the inquiry.

          19       I would like to introduce Professor Francesca Klug who

          20       is the lead commissioner on this inquiry for the

          21       Equality of Human Rights Commission.  I am chairing it.

          22       My name is Dame Nuala O'Loan.

          23           This session is part of the evidence gathering for

          24       our human rights inquiry.  We are really looking at -- I

          25       found it became four this morning.  It is the extent to
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           1       which a human rights culture is developing among public

           2       authorities, the barriers to such a culture and the

           3       extent to which authorities have been able to find ways

           4       to cross the hurdles or to circumvent them.  And also to

           5       look at the role of the Commission itself, of Government

           6       and of public authorities generally in fostering and

           7       promoting a human rights culture.  And I am very

           8       interested in your latest initiatives finding that

           9       failure to consider human rights constituted

          10       maladministration.  I think we will talk about that

          11       later.

          12           If there are questions which we ask to which you

          13       feel you can't give us a full answer today please tell

          14       us.  We will be happy to accept a follow-up submission

          15       in writing if you feel so minded.  We would be

          16       particularly happy if it came within 14 days.

          17           This is a formal legal inquiry and there are strict

          18       rules on disclosure by us of information.  We did ask

          19       you whether you were happy to give the evidence in

          20       public.  You are.  Thank you.  If at any stage you think

          21       it might be useful to go into private session if you

          22       would indicate that to me I would be grateful.

          23           We have a palantypist who will record your evidence

          24       and if you use abbreviations or acronyms if you could

          25       explain them and if you could speak clearly and slowly
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           1       please we would appreciate it.

           2           If you want us to clarify or explain a question

           3       please ask us to do so.

           4           Before we start, I invite my witnesses to make an

           5       opening statement if they wish so to do.  Would you like

           6       to do that?

           7   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I would like to do that.  I have prepared

           8       some, I hope, brief opening remarks and I also provided

           9       a somewhat amplified version of that as a written

          10       statement which I can leave with you today.

          11   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  That would be very helpful, thank you.

          12   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  So rather than go for a lengthy opening

          13       statement but obviously if there are any follow-up

          14       points that we would get to you after the session today

          15       then I am happy to do that as well.

          16   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.

          17   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I am noting your 14 days.

          18   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.

          19   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  So if you are happy, then I would just make

          20       a brief opening statement.

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.

          22   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  To say that this is a welcome opportunity

          23       to reflect upon the human rights aspects of my work as

          24       Parliamentary and Health Service ombudsman and of the

          25       work of public authorities within my jurisdiction and of
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           1       course that includes not only all the central Government

           2       departments and their satellite organisations but

           3       a number of other regulators and inspectorates as well

           4       as the National Health Service in England.

           5           So I am very grateful to the Commission and to the

           6       panel for the invitation.  And also for the opportunity

           7       to revisit my student days because this is the place in

           8       which I first came to London and first was a student.

           9           So I would like at the outset very briefly to set

          10       out my key observations.  Perhaps the first thing I

          11       should say is that in the past UK ombudsmen have had

          12       something of a reputation for being rather reticent

          13       about human rights, seeing them perhaps as somewhat

          14       removed from their maladministration remit.  I think it

          15       is fair to say that that was the position of most, if

          16       not quite all, of my predecessors as parliamentary

          17       ombudsmen.  And indeed, the UK public sector ombudsmen

          18       at large.

          19           And to that extent the situation here is obviously

          20       very different from other parts of the world where

          21       ombudsmen not just in Latin America, Eastern Europe but

          22       also in countries such as Spain and Portugal,

          23       Netherlands, Scandinavia and indeed, I am sure that in

          24       the case of the police ombudsmen in Northern Ireland

          25       equality and human rights have long been seen as a part
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           1       of an ombudsman's work.

           2           So that is the situation that I came in to nearly

           3       six years ago when I took up this role.

           4           What I was also saying is that there has been

           5       something of a thaw since around the time of the Human

           6       Rights Act in 1998 and particularly since it came into

           7       force in 2000.  I suspect that there are many reasons

           8       for that but I would like to mention just a couple, and

           9       one is to do with human rights and one is to do with

          10       ombudsmen.

          11           So as far as human rights are concerned what,

          12       I detect is a sea change in the approach with a definite

          13       shift away from seeing human rights as being just about

          14       civil liberties, crime, national security to a much more

          15       inclusive approach that recognises the small places

          16       where human rights play a part in ordinary daily life.

          17           And that shift in perception, and I am thinking here

          18       of the sort of encouragement offered by the Ministry of

          19       Justice, by the Joint Committee On Human Rights, has

          20       opened the human rights door to ombudsmen whose daily

          21       case load is very concerned with just those small places

          22       in public service and administration that actually do

          23       make a real difference to people's lives.

          24           And as for ombudsmen themselves, I suspect an

          25       important wakeup call came in a judgment given by
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           1       Lord Woolf in the 2003 Court of Appeal case in the

           2       Anufrijeva case which was actually very shortly after

           3       I took up this role where Lord Woolf made it quite clear

           4       that in some cases it would have been more appropriate

           5       for an ombudsman to investigate human rights aspects of

           6       citizen's grievances than for the matter to be

           7       investigated routinely as something exclusively for the

           8       authority.  This was authoritative and a high level

           9       steer that actually prompted a lot of fruitful

          10       discussion among ombudsmen and that discussion has led

          11       to something of a reappraisal in past years.

          12           Since then, as well the Council of Europe,

          13       especially in the shape of the Human Rights Commissioner

          14       Thomas Hamburger has reinforced that message and it is,

          15       I might say, a message that I see as sitting very well

          16       as the sort of vision public sector ombudsmen in the UK

          17       now generally espouse.

          18           If I go back to when my office was established in

          19       1967 and the Wilson Government's aspiration of using it

          20       as a means of humanising the bureaucracy of the state as

          21       the white paper at the time put it, that path from the

          22       humanising role to the espousal of human rights

          23       principles is in my view really quite a short one and

          24       one that is well worth taking.

          25           So no doubt in the course of this session we will
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           1       have a chance to consider the implications of all of

           2       that in more detail.

           3           So I would like to conclude now with just one

           4       observation which is this: just as our understanding of

           5       human rights and of ombudsmen activity has changed in

           6       the last few years, so we might now usefully adapt our

           7       thinking about what we see as our domestic human rights

           8       structures.  And the time has come, I would suggest,

           9       that we need a much more coordinated and inclusive

          10       approach to human rights structures that reflects the

          11       full variety of human rights tools at our disposal.

          12           So of course the human rights structures will

          13       continue to accommodate the courts themselves.  National

          14       human rights institutions such as the Commission as well

          15       as the key human rights NGOs, Joint Committee On Human

          16       Rights and an interesting role I think for the newly

          17       established Administrative Justice and Tribunals council

          18       in Great Britain.  But they will also find a place for

          19       other agents of influence too and that is when I come to

          20       back the ombudsman community, to regulators, for

          21       example, the newly established Care Quality Commission

          22       and to inspectorates, whether it is of prisons,

          23       police -- interesting we have a new inspector of the UK

          24       Borders Agency, and recognition of the part that can be

          25       played by such agencies.
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           1           And the need for that part to find a coherent place

           2       within the national structures as a whole is, I suspect,

           3       a potentially important step forward, and one of the

           4       chief outcomes that I will anticipate from this inquiry,

           5       and I think the role of this Commission in holding the

           6       ring around the human rights structures that are in

           7       existence.

           8           So I look forward to developing some of these

           9       observations with you and, as I have said, I am going to

          10       leave with you a short memorandum which sets out in

          11       a little more detail the points that I have been

          12       referring to in my opening remarks.

          13   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much indeed.  That is

          14       very helpful.

          15           I wanted to start by asking you if there was

          16       anything you wanted to add to the evidence which we

          17       received by way of your letter to the Chief Executive of

          18       the Commission about the impact the Human Rights Act has

          19       had on your work, and I am particularly interested in

          20       what you have just said about the sea change in

          21       approach, this shift away from seeing human rights as

          22       being about civil liberties and national security to the

          23       small places because one of the things that I think

          24       witnesses are telling us about is a perception that

          25       there hasn't been that shift.  So I would be most

                                            74

           1       grateful if you could tell me a little about that.

           2   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Well, I suppose perceptions come very

           3       strongly from the exposure one has in professional and

           4       personal life.  And I am not suggesting that somehow the

           5       potentially more controversial, more headline-grabbing

           6       areas have somehow disappeared.  What I think I am

           7       saying is that in the world of ombudsmen where we are

           8       often looking at issues where we can see human rights

           9       engaged, whether it is in the provision of care

          10       services, in health, in social care, in welfare

          11       benefits, in the prison service, that actually

          12       a rebalancing perhaps of that to give us the recognition

          13       that human rights are absolutely part of the mix of our

          14       work and not something that somehow stands out outside

          15       of our work.

          16           And when we got together as a group of public sector

          17       ombudsmen in the UK and Ireland, which we did in Derry

          18       a couple of years ago, hosted by the Northern Ireland

          19       ombudsman, one of the phrases that emerged from that

          20       discussion was that human rights were part of the

          21       maladministration recipe.  They weren't simply the icing

          22       on the cake.  And the sense that woven into the cloth of

          23       our work was huge potential for, I suppose, bringing

          24       human rights language alongside the more familiar

          25       language that we all understood: fairness and absence of
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           1       discrimination and dignity and respect.  All of that

           2       language was language we understood and it was a very

           3       short journey to bring human rights as well.

           4           So I am not saying that other aspects of human

           5       rights considerations have disappeared.  What I am

           6       saying is I think there has been a rebalancing.

           7           Nick has been advising me in my office in particular

           8       but the public sector ombudsmen were generally on these

           9       issues for some time now, so it may well be -- and he

          10       was at the meeting in Derry and helped us with our

          11       thinking on this, that maybe you ought to amplify.

          12   NICK O'BRIEN:  I think it is very much an older case, that

          13       the ombudsmen is set to be more alert to human rights.

          14       Not necessarily the world at large although I think the

          15       signs are certainly that some of the health handling

          16       side, that a number of those organisations about whom

          17       complaints are made are alert to things like the joint

          18       DOR, HI initiative.

          19           So those sorts of messages are beginning to get

          20       home, and certainly I have noticed in doing training

          21       with staff at Ann's office that those new staff who come

          22       from the health sector are much alert to the social

          23       agenda not just to the civil liberties of human rights.

          24       So I think those messages are getting across.

          25           But I think the main point here is that ombudsmen,
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           1       partly because of international context and partly

           2       because of the work done by local agents as well, have

           3       begun to realise there is scope for interweaving the

           4       human rights principles determining those sorts of

           5       issues, mainstream ombudsmen work really.

           6   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I am quite interested in this because

           7       there is an extent to which one would expect the

           8       ombudsmen to sit at the end of a chain of development of

           9       a recognition and understanding of human rights and yet

          10       what you are articulating is ombudsmen coming forward

          11       and being proactive and asking the questions of the

          12       service providers which will accelerate the process.

          13           And one of the questions we were probably going to

          14       ask you was, what more can you do?  And there may be

          15       other things you can do but that certainly I think is

          16       one of the things.

          17           You talked about the language there too, Ann, and

          18       again, I am interested because we have had evidence that

          19       the language is frightening, that the language can't

          20       change, that people understand respect and dignity.  And

          21       my view is that when I have looked, when we have heard

          22       evidence and we have examined the various forms of

          23       evidence we have received that where human rights

          24       language is mainstreamed service provision improves and

          25       where we are stuck with dignity and respect there isn't
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           1       the clarity of the additional benefits of human rights

           2       language.  I just wonder if you have any comment there.

           3   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Well, I think what I would say is this is

           4       not an either or.  I think that in the work we have done

           5       in trying to build a level of confidence amongst my

           6       investigative staff, people who are looking at cases who

           7       are posing the questions, in order to persuade them that

           8       human rights concepts, principles are not a million

           9       miles away from concepts and principles that they are

          10       used to working with, then we have taken them back to

          11       concepts that they do understand and have worked with

          12       for decades, some of them.

          13           I have had a lot of debates over the last couple of

          14       years about whether ombudsmen should do human rights by

          15       stealth and I think there is something about doing

          16       things in a way which don't get the automatic kickback

          17       that you get sometimes and I have seen in some cases

          18       that we look at.  We have one published case and we have

          19       a lot of cases in the pipeline and, therefore, you know,

          20       I think we will have a lot more to say about this over

          21       the next sort of 12 months or so.

          22           But I think my experience of the reactions I get,

          23       particularly in the health context I suppose, when I

          24       posed the question to a body jurisdiction, which is

          25       usually framed along the lines that: it seems to us that
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           1       Mr and Mrs So and So's human rights were engaged here

           2       and please can you tell me and demonstrate to me what

           3       you did to consider how you were going to ensure that

           4       those human rights were properly upheld?,  that can

           5       provoke quite extreme reactions, just the use of the

           6       language and that the letter you get back is then from

           7       a lawyer.

           8           And you know, these are all judgment calls really.

           9       I suspect that the more we do this the more word will

          10       get round that actually it's okay, and the ombudsmen

          11       genuinely is asking that question and you ought to be

          12       able to answer it and that it won't be quite such as

          13       a shock to the system as when it happened the first

          14       time.

          15           I am very clear, and I know that my colleagues in

          16       other ombudsmen schemes -- we are working jointly on

          17       some of these investigations -- are quite robust in

          18       using the language of human rights and not somehow

          19       trying to cloud it in anything other than that.  But

          20       every draft report is a judgment call and some of it

          21       will depend on the relationship you have with that body

          22       and how you want to engage in that dialogue.  What we

          23       want to do is engage in dialogue a lot of the time here.

          24           I go back to the starting point of how my office

          25       actually articulates its role, its purpose, its
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           1       strategic objectives and we are very clear that we are

           2       there to right individual wrongs and to drive

           3       improvements in public services.  We talk about

           4       individual benefit and we talk about public benefit and

           5       I am very clear that if we only look at the individual

           6       cases and don't look at the broader systemic issues we

           7       are only doing half a job.  Therefore, driving

           8       improvements in public services, of which this is

           9       a part, is what we believe we are there for, and that is

          10       all articulated in our strategic plan and our strategic

          11       objectives.

          12           So I suspect that we will continue to speak in both

          13       languages but I wouldn't want to lose the connections

          14       with the more familiar world from which we have come.

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I just ask you on the subject of

          16       your investigations where human rights are engaged does

          17       it come as a surprise to the complainant when you raise

          18       the issue of human rights or have they got there?  To

          19       what extent do you think complainants are on this path

          20       too?

          21   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  That is a very interesting question.

          22       I think that the majority of complainants probably are

          23       not.  Sometimes if they have an advocate then the

          24       advocate may be talking in human rights terms.

          25       Sometimes -- I am just thinking of the case of false
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           1       imprisonment which was couched in human rights terms,

           2       but again it was a legally represented complainant.  So

           3       I think it would be unusual in my experience for

           4       complainants to make reference to human rights other

           5       than in a very general, not linked to any specific

           6       article or any particular -- that sense of: and I think

           7       my human rights have been breached, but without actually

           8       being able to lock that down.

           9           Again, Nick, I don't know whether ...

          10   NICK O'BRIEN:  The possible exception being I think that

          11       people not that often but sometimes raise article 6

          12       fairness points.  They do seem to be alert to the fact

          13       that it should be fair and if they haven't had documents

          14       disclosed or this has been done behind their back then

          15       they are conscious in a very general way that that is

          16       somehow an infringement of human rights.  But in terms

          17       of substantive rights then no, I don't think there is

          18       a lot of sign of that happening.

          19   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  Can I take you on then to

          20       the issue of the Human Rights Act role really in

          21       improving delivery of public services, and I wanted to

          22       ask you generally what impact the Act has had on the

          23       practice of those who you investigate, whether you can

          24       give us practical examples.  But more particularly, has

          25       the impact been more marked in direct care giving
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           1       services than in services such as benefits

           2       administration?

           3   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I am quite reluctant to answer that

           4       question in terms which would suggest I have got

           5       a comprehensive overview of what is going on.  You well

           6       know that the ombudsman is reacting to the complaints

           7       that come to us and therefore to somehow say that we

           8       have a comprehensive view of the world ...

           9           But if I give you something which is much more an

          10       anecdotal perspective and identify -- I am doing quite

          11       a few joint investigations with the local Government

          12       ombudsman who obviously has the responsibility for

          13       complaints about local authority provided services, that

          14       if there is any kind of hierarchy, if I were to write

          15       the letter which says: it seems to me that human rights

          16       considerations ought to have formed part of your

          17       decision making here and please can you evidence for me

          18       what you did, if you wrote that letter to a local

          19       authority they might not like it but they probably would

          20       be able to give you something by way of a response that

          21       had a recognition about what they should have done even

          22       if they didn't do it.

          23           If you wrote that to an NHS body, and I have written

          24       a number of those lately, I have seen letters that come

          25       back which say: "Can you explain what you mean?" with
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           1       perhaps a much less well developed ... This is

           2       anecdotal.  And I suppose I write fewer of those letters

           3       to Government departments and agencies because with

           4       hindsight the work we have done on tax credits we might

           5       well have brought in family life considerations if we

           6       had been doing a different time.  So I think we probably

           7       got less experience in the Government departments

           8       territory.

           9           I think the area where there would be a huge

          10       awareness would be around detention, prison service

          11       immigration, custody, that sort of territory.  I think

          12       if I was to write that sort of letter to Her Majesty's

          13       Revenue and Customs I would definitely get a lawyer's

          14       letter back.

          15           So I think I see human rights awareness in the

          16       places where I would expect to see it.  I see the health

          17       service as having a very mixed picture and perhaps

          18       a developing awareness but a long way to go.

          19           And I think we are all pretty new at this actually.

          20       We have developed our thinking a lot and having

          21       developed it and grown the confidence of our staff to

          22       engage with this.  We are now putting it into practice.

          23       If we are sitting here in 12 months, 2 years time I hope

          24       I would be able to tell you a lot more about how bodies

          25       react.
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           1   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I am interested that you raise the

           2       Health Care Commission by reference to it because one of

           3       the pieces of evidence I received was that, to revert to

           4       my initial question about language of rights, was that

           5       medical professionals did not like or understand the

           6       relevance of the language of rights to their practice

           7       and that really they came from a tradition of making

           8       decisions in the best interests of the patient where

           9       consultation and involvement of the patient really

          10       wasn't a profitable exercise.  I wondered if you had any

          11       comments to make on that.

          12   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I think that is outrageous and fascinating

          13       given that the Department of Health is currently

          14       consulting on an NHS constitution which I think sets out

          15       pretty clearly the expectations that patient service
          16       users ought to have and which I am hoping to use in

          17       terms of my principles of good administration, the

          18       principal one is getting it right.  If the NHS

          19       constitution says that the patient experience should be

          20       this, well getting it right in ombudsman terms will be:

          21       I will pick it up your constitution and say that that's

          22       what patients should experience.

          23           I have to say I am shocked.  I suppose I am not

          24       shocked given that I have worked as an ombudsman in

          25       the world of the National Health Service for some years,
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           1       but I think those people are going to have a very

           2       uncomfortable ride if they seek to maintain that

           3       position.

           4   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I ask you whether you think there is

           5       any noticeable difference between sectors where there

           6       has been high profile political championing of human

           7       rights such as healthcare and sectors where that hasn't

           8       been the case such as immigration, or even neutrally the

           9       benefit system.  Have you seen any difference there,

          10       a different approach?

          11   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Well, I mean, do -- if you are happy for

          12       Nick to come in.  It is that sense of somehow making

          13       what would be a very sweeping statement on the basis of

          14       relatively little evidence, but I think with that --

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  That is why I asked whether you had had

          16       any experience.

          17   NICK O'BRIEN:  Looking from outside is, as I was at the

          18       time, the work that Ann did on tax credits where the tax

          19       credit system wasn't working it seemed to throw up lots

          20       of issues which were broadly in the context of, as Ann

          21       said earlier, rights to family life and that sort of

          22       thing.  But I think some of the complainants themselves

          23       have pointed out that the Revenue seem to be

          24       a department that were impervious to that sort of

          25       approach.  Their core client base tend not to be the
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           1       people who spoke the language of rights and indeed the

           2       idea that they would take a rights based approach seemed

           3       quite alien to them.  Suddenly they were landed with

           4       this bit of what was really welfare benefit

           5       administration in a sense.  It did rather show up the

           6       absence of that sort of approach, and I think certainly

           7       in a couple of places in the papers I saw comments to

           8       the effect that this might not have been quite such

           9       a blatant example of ignorance had it been another part

          10       of Government.

          11           So that perhaps does suggest that there is still

          12       bits of the machinery that's completely outside the

          13       rights language and it may be that senior doctors are

          14       part of that gap as well.

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.

          16   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Ombudsmen, I was very interested

          17       in your opening statement in describing this sea change

          18       and I am sure the chair would agree with me that we have

          19       had evidence, certainly in the health sector of that

          20       kind of sea change that you describe and social services

          21       and care services generally and perhaps less so in other

          22       areas.

          23           Also I was also intrigued by your describing the

          24       token of humanising public services and how you can

          25       espouse that into human rights which I thought was very
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           1       intriguing, but I just want to challenge you a little

           2       bit more and ask you to dig a bit further to help us

           3       understand what value added there is from your point of

           4       view and from the complainants that you are assisting in

           5       taking a rights base specifically a human rights

           6       approach.  How does it change the way you work and the

           7       outcomes for individuals?

           8   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I am trying to think of an illustration

           9       that might bring this to life.

          10   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  That would be very helpful to

          11       have an illustration.

          12   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  This is very anecdotal, very recent.

          13       Actually sitting with some of my staff this morning at

          14       something we call a recommendations and outcomes panel

          15       where actually people who have been working on cases

16       have got to the emerging findings stage and if they raise

          17       issues which are novel or particularly difficult, then

          18       they have the opportunity to bring them to a panel of

          19       senior staff for discussion.

          20           And I am always interested in the way we approach

          21       our work to make sure it is as strategic as possible and

          22       that out of every individual case without losing sight

          23       of the people who brought that complaint that we get the

          24       most possible value for our investment, as it were.  So

          25       what we are trying to do is ensure that we drive
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           1       improvements in public services, that we always try and

           2       get the most we can of a case.

           3           So, for example, to make that point, if somebody has

           4       an individual bad experience with a Government agency

           5       and when they also complain the complaint handling is

           6       dire, we will add bad complaint handling to the

           7       maladministration charge sheet in order to get the most

           8       leverage for change out of that.

           9           The case I was talking about this morning was a case

          10       where Job Centre Plus were dealing with a client who had

          11       an exceptional disability, an unusual disability which

          12       had stemmed from brain damage as a child through

          13       immunisation and had left him with cognitive

          14       difficulties, epilepsy, communication difficulties and

          15       this was all about the Incapacity Benefit System and Job

          16       Seekers Allowance and he had failed a test which meant

          17       his entitlement to incapacity benefit had been removed.

          18       And through a combination of circumstances, including

          19       the fact that they just neglected to deal with his

          20       chosen representative from the Citizens Advice Bureau,

          21       so he was someone who found an advocate for himself and

          22       they didn't engage with his advocate so he fell foul of

          23       the system, failed at a tribunal, got put On the Job

          24       Seekers Allowance track but with no recognition that he

          25       actually needed a disability employment adviser.  And
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           1       the upshot of all of this is that he ended up actually

           2       with reduced benefits all the way down and he was

           3       dependent at one point on Salvation Army parcels, and he

           4       was a single parent with a young son.

           5           Now, there is a lot of stuff in there and a lot of

           6       it is around the failure of that organisation to

           7       recognise the exceptional nature of the disability and

           8       actually when it finally got back to a tribunal the

           9       tribunal said: well, we need specialist medical advice 

          10       here.  This isn't learning disability.  It is not

          11       mental health problems.  We need specialist advice.

          12       And we worked through the disability discrimination

          13       issues and then we got into, well here was a man who

          14       couldn't feed his son.  The humiliation of his

          15       experiences of constantly going back and trying to

          16       explain well actually his communication difficulties

          17       were getting in the way of his ability to advocate what

          18       was quite a strong case for incapacity benefit.  And one

          19       of the impacts of that was he couldn't feed his son.

          20           So we built in some family life considerations into

          21       our charge sheet and that was part of the mix of that

          22       case.  So that is a sort of added factor that

          23       strengthens our arguments and raises the profile in an

          24       organisation which is responsible for the proper

          25       delivery of welfare benefits to consider such issues
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           1       properly.

           2   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  So are you saying it is very much

           3       this point about discriminating, the issues that you are

           4       addressing, not randomly as someone who sees fit?  And

           5       therefore does that strengthen the argument?  Where the

           6       impact is made is that in the outcome or is that in the

           7       building of a case, as it were?

           8   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I think it works in both directions but

           9       I think the impact is probably one of the most important

          10       elements of this and the fact that in the language that

          11       we use, we talk about maladministration leading to

          12       injustice and over the years I very much stressed the

          13       point with my staff that actually there can be

          14       maladministration but if there isn't injustice then

          15       there is not an upheld complaint and you don't get

          16       a remedy for the maladministration, you get the remedy

          17       for the injustice.

          18           So I think people now are quite good at articulating

          19       the injustice and will seek to articulate the injustice

          20       not in what was the error but what was the impact.  And

          21       again, thinking about not so much what was done, how was

          22       it done and what was the impact of it being done that

          23       way.  Yet I think all of that gives us good tools to

          24       work with that very much chime with where we have come

          25       from and how human rights get woven into the mix.

                                            90

           1   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  That is very interesting.  It

           2       makes a huge amount of sense but presumably you face

           3       barriers and challenges along the way.  Do you want to

           4       spell out what they might be.  First of all, among

           5       perhaps your own body in taking this approach and then

           6       perhaps something about the bodies that you are

           7       responding to.

           8   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Indeed.  Well, I suppose we are talking

           9       about barriers.  One of them is about familiarity and

          10       confidence and that plays both ways.  And the reason

          11       that we put so much time and effort into building

          12       confidence amongst the staff that this was a tool to

          13       work with, it wasn't a tool that was going to be

          14       completely alien to them, and then thinking about how

          15       you can use it to lever even better results.  It is not

          16       about we are doing things differently.  What we have got

          17       is an added ingredient which enables us to ratchet up,

          18       if you like, our results and our impact.

          19           And the barriers on the receiving end are that we

          20       have talked about the patchy engagement, the patchy

          21       levels of understanding, somebody can't help thinking

          22       this is nothing to do with them.  Reaching for the

          23       lawyers I think is something that will always make my

          24       heart sink because actually these aren't legal questions

          25       really and we are not asking legal questions and we are
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           1       not saying that somebody's human rights have been

           2       breached.  What we are saying is good administration

           3       means that if you are going to get this right in

           4       designing this service, in delivering this service, you

           5       have to take these things into account and that these

           6       are relevant considerations, and we are asking people to

           7       demonstrate that they have done that.

           8           So I think an army of lawyers, with all due respect

           9       to those among us, is the point at which we would see

          10       barriers starting to appear in getting the sort of

          11       engagement we would hope to have of bodies in

          12       jurisdiction.

          13   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Do you get much blow back in

          14       response: this is just another piece of regulation, it's

          15       too burdensome, haven't got the time?

          16   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  No, I don't think they would dare to do

          17       that.  No, I really don't think they would dare to do

          18       that.  No.

          19   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Do you think there is more that

          20       Government or indeed ourselves at the Commission could

          21       do to clarify some of the points you are making to get

          22       across what is a human rights-based approach to the

          23       delivery of services and the -- tell me if I am

          24       paraphrasing you wrongly -- and the lid between that and

          25       improving public services?  Do you think there is more
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           1       that the Government or ourselves could do to get that

           2       across or are the regulators indeed?

           3   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I think here there are always carrot and

           4       stick answers to every question, are there not?  In the

           5       same way as I would say to my staff you can get better

           6       results and you can make the investment that we put in

           7       to an investigation go further, if you bring in human

           8       rights considerations, I would always want to persuade

           9       bodies in jurisdiction that there are benefits for them.

          10       They want to deliver good services.  They want to stay

          11       within the law.  They want to get value for money for

          12       public money and public investment.  They want their

          13       customers to get a good service.

          14           And people who are responsible for designing,

          15       delivering, managing those services, if they can be

          16       persuaded that human rights are a tool for them to work

          17       with, and there are illustrations of how adding that to

          18       the mix can help you with that.

          19           So I think the positive examples which show in the

          20       same way as I always want bodies in jurisdiction to

          21       believe that the ombudsmen is a good thing and that

          22       actually worth listening to because what you get is

          23       pretty cheap feedback, and that there is a positive

          24       strand.

          25           But I equally think in this same way that I will,
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           1       and no doubt the Commission will, there are times when

           2       you speak softly and there are times when you carry

           3       a big stick and occasionally you get it out and use it.

           4       So I would expect that range of responses from the

           5       Commission as I would from any regulator.

           6   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I was interested when Francesca asked

           7       you about the cost et cetera being a barrier they just

           8       wouldn't come up with that and I am sure they wouldn't.

           9       But having said that, we have received evidence of such

          10       events.  One of them related to a housing case, an old

          11       lady who needed adjustments which were refused, the

          12       consequence of which she was actually losing her right

          13       to live in her own home et cetera, right to her family

          14       and right to privacy and there was a court challenge and

          15       her case was upheld on human rights grounds and she was

          16       awarded compensation.

          17           But the evidence from the witnesses was that the

          18       housing authority were not following through in making

          19       amendments to other houses which were obviously required

          20       because it was cheaper to face the court occasionally

          21       than to actually do that.  Have you encountered that?

          22   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Well I haven't encountered that on

          23       a specific human rights example.  But certainly I have

          24       seen evidence of an approach from public authorities

          25       which is to concede the particular but not the general.
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           1   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  What about the broader context?

           2       You won't have missed the occasional story in the media

           3       and the very rare statement by some political leaders

           4       that are not particularly helpful to encouraging the

           5       kind of approaching that you say you find helpful.

           6           How much does this environment impact on your work,

           7       and I am actually quite interested to ask you actually

           8       whether -- Nuala asked you earlier about clients,

           9       whether they expressed their needs in terms.  Do you

          10       actually find it such that clients say to you: "I don't

          11       want to have my needs expressed as a human rights"

          12       because they see it somehow as contaminated or

          13       a negative association?  Have you come across that at

          14       all?

          15   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I certainly haven't seen any suggestion

          16       from people who have complained to us: please don't put

          17       a human rights label on this because that would

          18       contaminate it.  I have not seen any evidence on that at

          19       all.

          20   NICK O'BRIEN:  No.

          21   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Without wanting to be too Polly Anna-ish

          22       really about it my approach is to accentuate the

          23       positive here.  There is a huge amount of territory on

          24       which we can operate, and we are a reactive

          25       organisation.  We are demand led.  If you are the
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           1       ombudsman for the health service you are not short of

           2       material really.  I suppose it is where we came in.

           3       I am not unaware of some of the what I describe as

           4       "noises off" which might be unhelpful, but I don't think

           5       they particularly pervade our daily lives.

           6   NICK O'BRIEN:  No, no, I don't think that does come through

           7       in the cases actually.

           8   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Do you think there is more the

           9       Commission -- from your point of view what would the

          10       Commission most hopefully do to assist you?  I don't

          11       mean directly.  I mean in fulfilling our remit what can

          12       it do to help you?

          13   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I suppose I would say something around not

          14       working in isolation I suppose, working with others, and

          15       there is a broader theme to this for me than human

          16       rights.  When I look at all of the forces which bear

          17       down on public service providers, medical professionals

          18       or whatever it always seems to me that if the regulators

          19       and inspectors and ombudsmen can join hands from their

          20       particular statutory remit and find the common ground,

          21       then we have a much better chance together of driving

          22       those improvements in public services that we want to

          23       see.

          24           And one of my illustrations of that is if the

          25       ombudsmen finds in an ombudsman investigation that the
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           1       clinical judgment of a doctor appears to have fallen

           2       below the standards of the profession so there is for us

           3       a professional conduct issue, and I refer that to the

           4       professional regulator who says, "I don't think so",

           5       then there is an escape route for the people, the

           6       organisations who are operating below a standard that

           7       I think matters and vice versa.

           8           So I am always interested in the strategic alliances

           9       amongst regulators, whether they are quality regulators,

          10       professional regulators, human rights regulators that

          11       without in any way diluting or compromising our remits

          12       if we can join hands so there is no escape route.

          13           And I was very taken with Baroness Young who put out

          14       her manifesto, I think she called it in the Care Quality

          15       Commission and she talked about a shared model of

          16       quality with other regulators and inspectors and I would

          17       sign up for that.  And if the Commission similarly could

          18       sign up for a shared model of quality in the delivery of

          19       services maybe with human rights in the centre of it, it

          20       is that collaborative collegiate: don't do your work in

          21       tram lines because there are lots of other players who

          22       actually can echo, endorse, reinforce.

          23           And if we could do that, then we would have the

          24       opposite of that situation where the provider can say:

          25       oh, I've got so many people making demands on me that
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           1       actually and they are contradictory and I don't know

           2       what to do first.  If they all actually fit together

           3       quite nicely around a shared model of quality, then

           4       I think that would be a really positive thing.

           5   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Final question from me: does the

           6       NHS constitution as it is emerging a rights based

           7       approach, do you think it is going to impact on the new

           8       direction you have been describing?  Do you think it is

           9       relevant?

          10   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I think it is hugely relevant.  I plan to

          11       use it.  Yes.  Absolutely.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I wanted to turn in terms of barriers to

          13       implementation of human rights to issues relating to the

          14       consistency of care limits, care and limits to the

          15       definition of public authority.  And I think we are

          16       particularly concerned in the field of health and in the

          17       field of immigration on these issues.

          18           I wanted to ask you first, do you think that the

          19       limits on the definition of the public authority and the

          20       Human Rights Act challenge or affect the consistency of

          21       standards in service delivery?  I am thinking here about

          22       the private sector provider and public sector et cetera.

          23   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Again, I am just trying to go back to what

          24       can I say that is evidence based, what can I say that is

          25       principles based, if you like?  And I think I can say
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           1       more is principled based because I am in a very

           2       different position from some others in that I have

           3       a clear jurisdiction which says that if a service is

           4       provided by or on behalf of, then it is within my

           5       jurisdiction.  So I really am not fussed about

           6       contracting out and all the rest of it because for me it

           7       is very clear that the responsibility sits with the

           8       public authority and there is a chain of accountability

           9       that comes straight back there.

          10           But I am well aware the limitations on public

          11       authority that we are wrestling with.  And on the basis

          12       of principle -- if my common sense definition of public

          13       authority is the right one, then how can that

          14       accountability somehow stop because this is a private

          15       sector provider?

          16   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  But it does stop.

          17   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I know that and it makes no sense to me

          18       I suppose is what I am saying.

          19   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  And Government are going to amend the

          20       legal position I think in following the YL case in

          21       health and social care but not in the context of the

          22       immigration centres and we received evidence on

          23       a particular case at an immigration centre on which the

          24       private sector contractor who ran the centre judicially

          25       reviewed a breach of article 3 against the Home
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           1       Secretary and against the private sector provider.  The

           2       Home Secretary acknowledged the breach but the private

           3       sector provider refused to admit it.  They joined

           4       themselves to protect the position.  But at the end of

           5       the day the private sector contractor simply did not

           6       have a grasp of the human rights obligations which

           7       eschewed from the fact that he was funded by the public

           8       sector.

           9   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I think what would be fascinating is if

          10       having had that court decision, a complaint was made to

          11       the ombudsman.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Yes.

          13   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  Because I don't think I would feel myself

          14       so constrained.

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I was going to say, can you suggest ways

          16       of overcoming that challenge?  Perhaps you have just

          17       done it.

          18   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  We would certainly have a go.

          19   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I wanted to ask you finally about the

          20       media and the media portrayal of a human rights issues

          21       because we have received a lot of evidence about the

          22       narrow activity in the print media in relation to the

          23       Human Rights Act., and I was wondering do you have in

          24       your office as ombudsmen a particular strategy to deal

          25       with the media because you are dealing with very high
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           1       profile cases by virtue of your office which aims to

           2       address human rights challenges if you like.

           3           Do you, for example, have a human rights champion in

           4       the office?  Do you have an action plan?  I think you

           5       said it formed part of your strategic planning anyway.

           6       Can you give us any advice, whether it is evidence based

           7       or general observations as to how this issue of the

           8       media should be handled to enhance understanding in the

           9       community about what human rights are actually about?

          10   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I think if you want the short answer to

          11       that question, no, I can't offer you any advice.  My

          12       approach to the media is to keep away from them a lot of

          13       the time and I think that is entirely right for an

          14       ombudsman.  I don't think ombudsmen should do sound

          15       bites.  I don't think they should do off the record

          16       briefings.  I think that if you are going to have the

          17       respect and the reputation of an impartial judge, even

          18       then actually you need to retain that gravitas.

          19           But I am also aware, I think, that if there is

          20       a major report that we are issuing, then I would be

          21       proactive about doing everything I can to ensure that

          22       the key messages are properly communicated, properly

          23       promoted and understood.  So I will do things in the

          24       media on the back of a report or to promote a report and

          25       I won't do them in isolation.
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           1           On the question of: do we have a champion? we have

           2       no particular communication strategy, media strategy

           3       around human rights.  We did develop, have indeed

           4       developed a human rights strategy and action plan which

           5       Nick very much helped us with and had a senior member of

           6       the management team chairing the group that was

           7       developing that work and it was discussed at our

           8       executive board and signed off at that level and we

           9       continue to have a working group to keep awareness of

          10       human rights developments.  And in fact the executive

          11       board a couple of weeks ago had an update on progress

          12       and forward developments and so on.  And I am sure Nick

          13       could talk more about what we did to develop that

          14       strategy.

          15           Certainly senior level engagement and visibility are

          16       absolutely key for us.

          17   NICK O'BRIEN:  I think Ann is the champion in a way but

          18       I think the fact that the ombudsman has espoused has

          19       been very significant and also external people.  Lots of

          20       the speeches and the writing she has done this last year

          21       have been about human rights.  A lot of the strategy was

          22       because building awareness and confidence of staff,

          23       bench mainstream into the decision-making process and

          24       I suppose the final bit I suppose still to be delivered

          25       is working at external agencies to get them accustomed
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           1       to that.  So it is the educating of the outside world.

           2           Probably the publication of the MOJ stuff would be

           3       a useful vehicle for that but certainly the health side

           4       of it, the NHS constitution does look like a good

           5       concept in that respect.

           6           And I think it is the sort of stuff you were talking

           7       about before: getting the staff to use human rights

           8       language and when to use it and not to use it and to see

           9       how to translate it in and out of human rights so

          10       Esperanto, if you like, and being able to use it, as one

          11       of your colleagues so elegantly put it, to use it in all

          12       sorts of different situations, and there is some

          13       scepticism about that and resistance.

          14   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Is there.  I am interested to

          15       know that.

          16   NICK O'BRIEN:  Unfamiliarity with it and a suspicion that

          17       maybe human rights is going to be perceived as over the

          18       top in certain situations and therefore likely to put

          19       people off and to create the wrong reactions.  But

          20       gradually getting a sense that that isn't necessarily

          21       the only way in which human rights principles can be

          22       used.

          23           So I think it has been an incremental approach.

          24   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  I ask you one final

          25       question.  The Ministry of Justice have a rapid rebuttal
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           1       unit, I am not quite sure what its name is.  Are you

           2       aware of that?

           3   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I am now.  We have good links with the

           4       Ministry of Justice and in fact tomorrow I am actually

           5       on a panel with a couple of other regulators, inspectors

           6       at the second of the sessions that the MOJ have

           7       organised.  Regulators, inspectors but no, I have never

           8       heard the words "rapid rebuttal" in that context before.

           9   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  It is a unit which appears to exist to

          10       challenge the stories as they appear in the media.

          11       Their work seems to be diminishing which is possibly

          12       a good sign.  I wondered whether you had heard of it and

          13       had any views on it.

          14           I think that concludes the questions we would like

          15       to ask you unless there is anything you would like to

          16       add.

          17   MS ANN ABRAHAM:  I was just going to finish really with

          18       a little illustration of the road we have travelled and

          19       how far we have come and they are all to do with

          20       contacts I have had over the last six years with my

          21       European colleagues and it started after I have been

          22       imposed a very short space of time, in a matter of

          23       a couple of months I think when I had a phone call from

          24       the Norwegian ombudsman, who is a very understanding,

          25       distinguished character, who was ringing me to ask why
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           1       I wasn't in Oslo at a conference of European ombudsmen,

           2       and in fact the answer to that I didn't know it was

           3       happening, but he said to me: is it because you're not

           4       interested in human rights?  So clearly the reputation

           5       that we had was pretty well established.

           6           A couple of years later I was actually invited to

           7       speak at a conference in Vienna, a conference of

           8       European ombudsmen and I was asked to speak on the

           9       subject of ombudsmen and human rights from a negative

          10       perspective.  They do this classic thing of negative

          11       perspective.  So at least there was a sense that I might

          12       speak the language even if I might not say very positive

          13       things.

          14           So I thought, well it is an invitation and I will

          15       take it and actually turned it round and used it as

          16       a vehicle to start to make an entry really on to this

          17       stage.

          18           And then earlier this year -- so we move on again --

          19       Thomas Hamburger came to visit us and I had met him

          20       indeed in Vienna on a subsequent conference in Athens

          21       when we talked a lot about this alliance of ombudsmen

          22       and national human rights institutions and human rights

          23       structures, and he came to see us in Westminster and we

          24       talked a bit about our work and explained our strategy,

          25       at the end of which he said, "This is hugely impressive
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           1       and I wish you'd share it with your European

           2       colleagues".

           3           And it just seemed to me that without banging drums

           4       or making a huge amount of noise about this what we had

           5       done is shift the reputation of UK ombudsmen to a very

           6       different place and that felt a good place to be.

           7   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  It is interesting because I had actually

           8       contemplated asking you about that because I think you

           9       wrote about it and I had come to the conclusion that

          10       I had really overrun your time and I shouldn't ask you.

          11       So I am very glad you ended with that point.  Thank you

          12       very much.

          13    (3.00 pm)

          14                  (The third session concluded)
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          15    (3.05 pm)

          16   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Good afternoon.  Thank you very much for

          17       coming.  If I may introduce my colleague Professor

          18       Francesca Klug who is the lead commissioner on this

          19       inquiry.  And my name is Dame Nuala O'Loan.  I am

          20       chairing the inquiry.

          21           We are focusing on the extent to which a human

          22       rights culture is developing among public authorities.

          23       We are looking at the barriers to the development of

          24       such a culture.  And we are looking at what more can be

          25       done in terms of the Government, the Commission and
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           1       other public bodies to foster and develop human rights

           2       in England and Wales.

           3           If there are any questions which we ask to which you

           4       feel you can't give a full answer at this time if you

           5       want to submit some additional written evidence we would

           6       be very pleased and if you wanted to submit it within 14

           7       days we would be even more happy because we are working

           8       on very tight time constraints.

           9           We did ask you because this is a formal legal

          10       inquiry whether you were willing to give your evidence

          11       in public and you indicated that you were.  Yes.  And if

          12       that were to change and you felt it was necessary to go

          13       into private session if you let me know.

          14           We have a palantypist who is taking a record of the

          15       proceedings for us.  If you use any abbreviations or

          16       acronyms it would be helpful if you explain them to her

          17       and then she will get a really good record of your

          18       evidence.

          19           If you feel you want us to clarify a question or the

          20       words we are using please don't hesitate to ask us to do

          21       so.

          22           Before we start I invite my witnesses if they wish

          23       so to do to make a brief opening statement, two minutes

          24       perhaps.  So if somebody would like to do that.

          25   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Yes, we have prepared an opening statement
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           1       thank you very much, and thank you for the opportunity

           2       to speak, to present evidence to this hearing.

           3           We thought it would be helpful if we began by

           4       setting out Ofsted's role and the principles

           5       underpinning upon which we work.  Ofsted is the Office

           6       for Standards in Education, Children Services and

           7       Skills.  It is a non-ministerial Government department.

           8       It came into being on 1 April 2007 and we inspect and

           9       regulate to achieve excellence in the care of children

          10       and young people in education and skills of learning of

          11       all ages.

          12           Our remit is extensive.  We cover regulation and

          13       inspection of childcare, children's social care, the

          14       inspection of local authority children’s services,

          15       schools, colleges, initial teacher training, work based

          16       learning, children and family courts advisory support

          17       services, adult education and more.

          18           And at least one person in three in England makes

          19       use of the services we inspect or regulate.  That puts

          20       us in a position to make a difference to the lives of

          21       many millions of fellow citizens of all ages.  It is

          22       a privilege and a great responsibility.  We take it very

          23       seriously and we have very clear purpose to raise

          24       standards and improve lives by serving children and

          25       learners, encouraging services to improve and securing
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           1       efficiency and effectiveness.

           2           Now the way in which we work is by the principles

           3       informing human rights: dignity, fairness, equality,

           4       respect and autonomy and our core values explicitly

           5       place children and learners first.  We are committed to

           6       achieving excellence, behaving with integrity and

           7       valuing people's differences in all our work.

           8           We involve people in developing our inspection

           9       methodology to help make sure it meets their needs and

          10       we engage with people during the inspections so we can

          11       take account of their experiences.  With very few

          12       exceptions our reports are freely available so people

          13       can have the information they need about the services

          14       their children are using.

          15           Our inspections focus on outcomes.  We considered

          16       whether the Every Child Matters outcomes are being met,

          17       and I imagine you are familiar with those.  Our

          18       regulatory work ensuring childcare and children's social

          19       care and rising standards does require some compliance

          20       checking but on the whole our inspection work focuses on

          21       outcomes rather than on compliance checking although we

          22       do expect providers to fill in their self-evaluations

          23       and show how they are meeting statutory requirements,

          24       and if we have any concerns we will check up on those.

          25           We do look at what children and learners experience
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           1       and whether they are being treated equally and with

           2       respect and our reports focus on where improvement is

           3       needed and where there is particularly good practice

           4       from which others might learn, and in carrying out our

           5       work we make sure we act in accordance with human rights

           6       principles.  Our equality schemes and plans support the

           7       way we measure equality and respect diversity.  We act

           8       proportionately focusing on inspection activity where it

           9       can make a difference.  We take enforcement activity

          10       only where there is no other option and we focus on

          11       outcomes for those whose circumstances make them

          12       particularly vulnerable where safeguarding is of

          13       paramount importance.

          14           We believe inspection is a real catalyst for

          15       improvement, so we look forward to discussing that with

          16       you over the next hour.

          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you very much.  That was actually

          18       very comprehensive as I look at my long list of

          19       questions.

          20   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  We thought it would help to give you some

          21       additional information.

          22   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  You didn't actually use the key words

          23       United Nations Convention on the rights of the child.

          24       So I wanted briefly perhaps to ask you, can you be

          25       specific about what, or more specific perhaps, because
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           1       you have talked about freedom and all that sort of

           2       thing, but more specific about the impact of the Human

           3       Rights Act or the United Nations Convention on the

           4       rights of a child has had on your work.

           5   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  If you think about our work we work in

           6       a legislative framework where the focus is on the well

           7       being of children and young people through the Every

           8       Child Matters agenda.  Now, that is not a direct

           9       response to the Human Rights Act.  However, it is fully

          10       consistent with it.  So we would be more influenced by

          11       that than we have actually by the Human Rights Act.  But

          12       we don't see that as a problem because we believe the

          13       two things are fully consistent and human rights

          14       principles are fully reflected in our core values and

          15       our four core values, which I quoted earlier, about

          16       putting children first, achieving excellence, valuing

          17       people's differences and behaving with integrity are

          18       totally consistent with it.  Also our equalities schemes

          19       that we use internally, the way we inspect we believe is

          20       as well.

          21           So I don't know if you want me -- and the way we

          22       train our staff.

          23   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Tell me a little about the standards

          24       that you use and whether there are human rights

          25       standards in your framework.
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           1   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  We don't inspect against standards except

           2       in our regulatory inspections and our regulatory

           3       inspections are mainly in our children’s area of work,

           4       our care work.  I will ask Jean to say something about

           5       those.

           6   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  In our inspection of early years and in

           7       our inspection of children's social care there are

           8       national minimum standards and those standards

           9       specifically refer to areas that are strongly related to

          10       human rights.  In children's homes, for example, we find

          11       that there is a strong reference to privacy, to children

          12       not being restrained unless there are very good reasons

          13       for it, for example, self harm or harm to others, and we

          14       look at those sorts of things when we go into inspect

          15       children's homes.

          16           There are also areas around privacy that are to do

          17       with the kind of facilities that are available to

          18       children that we check, when they are bathing, when they

          19       are in the secure estate for example, when they are

          20       accommodated because of legal reasons? There is a strong focus on their personal dignity. We have to check to make

          22       sure that any disciplinary measures that are put in

          23       place for them are really very much in line with their

          24       human rights.

          25           I think the other main areas around this are really
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           1       to do with the sorts of opportunities that children have

           2       to influence the way their future unfolds.  They have an

           3       opportunity to influence the care plan that they have.

           4       They have an opportunity to influence decisions that are

           5       made about their lives.  And these are areas that we

           6       would pick up on when we are inspecting.

           7   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  One of the issues

           8       which has been raised with us repeatedly by witnesses,

           9       or two of the issues, are the access of cared for

          10       children to education and the educational attainment of

          11       the average, if you like, cared for child.  And the

          12       access of children in custody to education and the

          13       inadequacy of that education, and perhaps to go back to

          14       the first one children who are cared for, the extent to

          15       which it has been said to us that they are moved

          16       repeatedly and that too is disruptive of education.  I

          17       didn't know if you had any observations to make in those

          18       contexts.

          19   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Children talk to us quite a lot about

          20       these areas because part of our inspection is to get as

          21       much information as we possibly can about children's

          22       experiences through questionnaires and also through

          23       direct discussions.

          24           Stability is a key area for them and it is not

          25       necessarily to do with the number of times they move.

                                           113

           1       It is the relationships they establish and how well

           2       those relationships support them and whether they are

           3       able to access education and the sorts of things they

           4       need.

           5           And several of our reports actually point out where

           6       there is a high level of instability that affect

           7       children and other areas where obviously stability does

           8       maintain that opportunity for them to enjoy education

           9       extremely well.

          10           The other area that children do talk to us about

          11       particularly is the secure estate.  Education in some of

          12       our secure training centres is not as strong as it could

          13       be and actually even before Ofsted became New Ofsted it

          14       was reporting on inadequacies in those areas and the

          15       fact that children were not getting the sort of

          16       education that they needed, young people were not being

          17       well prepared for life after the secure estate.

          18           So we draw quite a lot of attention to those sorts

          19       of areas in our reports.

          20   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  May I just add one other thing?

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Please do.

          22   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Which is about children in public care and

          23       the group of children.  We do focus very specifically on

          24       this group of children in our joint area reviews which

          25       are inspection of local authority children’s services and
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           1       what we found is that there has been a general

           2       improvement in provision for the children.  Outcomes in

           3       terms of their educational outcomes are still lagging

           4       behind and there is still a very definite gap there.

           5       And what we found, our evidence points to the fact that

           6       absolutely everything has to be in place to a high level

           7       before we can start seeing the impact on the educational

           8       outcomes.

           9   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay.  One of the things that I think

          10       you put into place is the Children's Rights Director as

          11       an advocate for particularly looked after children.  Can

          12       you tell me a little bit more about that?

          13   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes.  Roger Morgan is the Children's

          14       Rights Director.  He spends a considerable amount of

          15       time finding ways to communicate with young people.  In

          16       fact, yesterday he was in the Space Centre I think, was

          17       he not, talking with groups of young people.  He tries

          18       to focus on things, on issues that children raise with

          19       him.  They talk to him about a whole range of things,

          20       some of which can seem very small like their pocket

          21       money and whether they are given access to friends and

          22       others can seem very significant, but they are all

          23       extremely significant to children and Roger treats them

          24       in that way which I think is one of his strengths.

          25           He has done quite a lot of reports using children's
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           1       views and using the language that they use.  Every time

           2       he has a consultation it produces a report that becomes

           3       public.  He gathers their views to influence the way

           4       policy is being developed.  For example, the National

           5       Minimum Standards are about to be reviewed and we spent

           6       a day in the summer at a theme park talking to over 800

           7       children and getting them to fill in questionnaires and

           8       to tell us about their expectations of the standards and

           9       what they felt should be the right sorts of things for

          10       them when they were in care.  We have consulted with

          11       them on whether or not we should publish reports about

          12       the places they live in and they have got some very

          13       sensible and interesting ideas about that.

          14           And he also publishes reports about the quality of

          15       our inspection of children's homes and asks them whether

          16       we are making a difference and whether the ideas that

          17       they put forward are actually being taken forward.

          18           He can be contacted by individual children and they

          19       do that from time to time but he can't actually

          20       intervene in individual cases, but a letter from Roger

          21       to a director of children's services tends to get

          22       a reasonably quick response on behalf of the child.

          23           He has other ways of communicating which are fairly

          24       novel, apart from the website he uses text messages

          25       so messages are translated into text, sent out to
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           1       a panel usually on Friday and by Tuesday we have

           2       responses from round about 20 or 30 youngsters.  So you

           3       can ask them a question very quickly and get a response

           4       from them.  It has to be translated back for us to

           5       understand I am afraid, but ...

           6   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  As a mother of children I know about

           7       that.

           8           I am quite interested in the idea of taking children

           9       to a theme park and then asking them to fill in

          10       a questionnaire.

          11   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Roger has developed a method for gathering children’s views.

.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay.  Then I move on.  Can you tell me

          13       what impact you think either the Human Rights Act or the

          14       United Nations Convention on the rights of a child has

          15       had on the practice of those whom you inspect?  And then

          16       I will need to come back again because I have written

          17       myself a note to ask you something, but we will carry

          18       on.

          19   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Well, if I start, the Education Act 2005

          20       and the Children Act 2004 and again the Every Child

          21       Matters outcomes framework probably have more direct

          22       influence on the providers that we inspect than the

          23       Human Rights Act itself.  However, the Every Child

          24       Matters framework, as I have said, is strongly

          25       supportive of the Human Rights Act and providers who are
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           1       working effectively within the Every Child Matters

           2       framework will be operating compatibly with the Human

           3       Rights Act.

           4           Now what we are seeing -- obviously we collect a lot

           5       of evidence through our inspections and it is reported

           6       in the annual report, we are seeing improvement quite

           7       strongly in some areas, perhaps less strongly in other

           8       areas that we are reporting on.  For example, things

           9       like behaviour have improved over the years in schools

          10       but there is still a concern.  Last year's annual report

          11       highlighted that behaviour was only satisfactory in

          12       29 per cent of secondary schools and we would like to

          13       see it rising to good in that percentage.

          14           There is evidence, strong evidence that some groups

          15       are doing better than others and we have just discussed

          16       one group which is not doing quite so well.

          17           Some of these things have moved a lot more highly up

          18       the agenda and I think that is attributable both to the

          19       Every Child Matters framework and to the Human Rights

          20       Act.  Things like bullying.  These are very high on the

          21       agenda of all institutions now.

          22           I don't know if you would like to add anything from

          23       your areas.

          24   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  I think the Care Standards Act in 2002

          25       was very much in line with really trying to get to
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           1       children's rights and focusing very strongly on

           2       individuals which I think our Education Acts tend not

           3       to.  They focus more on children rather than the child

           4       which I think is quite a significant difference.

           5           In terms of the impact that that has had we have

           6       seen improvements in the way children are looked after

           7       in care homes, a greater recognition of the need for

           8       privacy, greater recognition of the need for them to

           9       keep in touch with their families and friends, a much

          10       stronger focus on children being looked after but having

          11       very strong links with education and although education

          12       isn't good, particularly in some of those areas, it has

          13       improved significantly over the last few years.

          14           I think also in the family courts the support that

          15       is provided for children where they are given

          16       a guardian, they have an advocate, there is an

          17       independent review officer.  All of those things I think

          18       come primarily from those areas of legislation, so

          19       I think there has been quite a strong impact

          20       particularly on children.

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  That is very helpful.  Can I

          22       go back and ask you the question I forget to ask you

          23       which was: do you have any responsibility in respect of

          24       the education of the children of asylum seekers or

          25       something like that and children in immigration centres
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           1       awaiting deportation?

           2   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  We have a little.  We were asked,

           3       I think it was probably only two years ago, if we would

           4       carry out an inspection in those areas but we don't have

           5       any direct responsibility.  What we also do is through

           6       our local authority inspections look at the impact of

           7       different groups that come in to local authorities and

           8       we test out the sort of provisions that are being made.

           9       So we do look at those sorts of areas through our

          10       inspection but we haven't got a direct responsibility.

          11   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Thank you.  And lastly, very lastly,

          12       very quickly I think I just wanted to know if you had

          13       seen any noticeably different approach between the

          14       sector where there has been high profile political

          15       campaigning, health and education where there hasn't in

          16       terms of the development of human rights.

          17   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Well, I think the institutions we inspect

          18       are very mindful of the Education Acts that we have

          19       cited, so I would expect they are taking good notice

          20       although they may not know that they are.  I don't know

          21       if colleagues ...

          22   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  I think that is probably right.  And

          23       I think also the legislation around national standards

          24       and so forth does actually give quite a strong

          25       imperative for people to respond positively to those
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           1       areas.  I think one of the areas that we have been

           2       trying to focus on, and it is something that Christine

           3       is particularly interested in, is the vulnerable

           4       children in society.

           5           We can get huge interest from the media about

           6       schools.  We recently published reports on CAFCASS, the

           7       family courts provision, and that actually got quite

           8       a lot of public interest and it is our intention to

           9       certainly try and raise the profile of looked after

          10       children in the same sort of way.

          11           But last year there was less public interest in that

          12       than in the schools report.

          13   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Yes, that is true but I would say that

          14       last year's annual report did have a very strong focus

          15       on vulnerable groups and on closing the gap and we did

          16       get quite a lot of publicity for that.

          17   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I am very struck that several

          18       times you have said, particularly with schools that

          19       there are different frameworks operating such as Every

          20       Child Matters but you are confident that people are

          21       operating in a Human Rights Act compliant way because

          22       I think, correct me if I am wrong, but you are possibly

          23       the first regulator to respond in that way.  I think the

          24       other regulators have talked about how the human rights

          25       explicitly impacts either on their work or the work of
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           1       their inspected bodies to a greater or lesser extent and

           2       more or less successfully, but it appears that as

           3       a piece of legislation, correct me if I am wrong,

           4       because I am trying to make sure I understand you

           5       correctly and interpret what you are saying correctly,

           6       what you are saying is that other pieces of legislation

           7       are compliant with it.  It sounds like you are saying

           8       that you don't think that the Human Rights Act is as

           9       a piece of legislation hugely relevant to the bodies you

          10       inspect.  Am I wrong?

          11   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  I am not sure that is really what we are

          12       saying because I think the Human Rights Act itself has

          13       very strong emphasis in the pieces of legislation which

          14       I have described.  So when schools are making sure that

          15       they are compliant with the Education Act, they are

          16        also likely to be in compliance with the Human Rights

          17       Act.  But there are many piece of legislation which

          18       apply very directly to education and I think they

          19       themselves are compliant with the Human Rights Act.

          20   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I am aware there have been some

          21       cases -- I don't think many of them were successful --

          22       that have been taken under the Human Rights Act

          23       regarding disciplinary procedures et cetera.

          24           We have a standard question -- let me put it like

          25       this -- where we ask people: what are the barriers to
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           1       implementing a human rights based approach and human

           2       rights in their field?  But in a sense that doesn't feel

           3       a totally appropriate question to ask in response to the

           4       evidence you have given us so far because I am trying to

           5       get behind why in this field -- is it, as you say,

           6       simply that the legislation is so compliant, there is

           7       actually a more school friendly or child friendly or

           8       more, you know, care institution friendly approach to

           9       achieving the same result or is there a sense -- I think

          10       about for example the broad range of areas in a school

          11       that might command human rights, the way that the

          12       children experience the whole school policy or

          13       discipline or exclusions or bullying as you rightly say.

          14       You know, is it the case that every -- I don't know

          15       enough about Every Child Matters that covers all these

          16       areas or is there a lack of perhaps focus on the human

          17       rights?

          18   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Perhaps I should say what the Every Child

          19       Matters outcomes do focus on, because there are five of

          20       them, they are focusing on being healthy, staying safe,

          21       enjoying and achieving, making a positive contribution

          22       and achieving the economic well being.  These are

          23       comprehensive.

          24   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  So would be the discipline policy

          25       of a school --
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           1   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  That fits under staying safe.

           2   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Exclusion policy.

           3   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  So the whole question of discipline,

           4       exclusions, bullying, all fits together there under

           5       staying safe.  Schools are very mindful of that and we

           6       are mindful of it when we inspect them.  Whether they

           7       are all doing equally well under it, you know, there is

           8       some variation.

           9   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  It is policy framework I am

          10       talking amount.  Would you say this is just the way it

          11       is developed or that actually there is something, the

          12       phrase human rights, the language of human rights, the

          13       bad press of human rights, actually makes it an

          14       uncomfortable approach to apply to schools or is it just

          15       redundant?

          16   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  I don't think so.  It is much more that it

          17       is the way in which the department, the DCSF, the

          18       Department for Schools Families and Children, it is the

          19       way they have developed the frameworks upon which the

          20       schools are basing the work that they do, and we have

          21       worked closely with them on that.  So it hasn't felt

          22       uncomfortable.

          23   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  You see --

          24   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  To say, I think unlike other sectors

          25       there hasn't been so much awareness raised around it so
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           1       I think the focus has been more implicit, as Miriam has

           2       said, than explicit.  You gave the example of health.

           3       There has been quite a lot of campaigning around it so

           4       you get a much stronger focus.  So I think there is

           5       perhaps less awareness of the benefits specifically in

           6       the sectors that we inspect than there would be in

           7       health.

           8   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I know obviously there has been

           9       impacts on the curriculum but we are talking about the

          10       whole school system.  I wonder if you are aware of the

          11       Hampshire 3Rs project: Right, Respect and

          12       Responsibilities.

          13   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Not specifically.

          14   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  We had a senior official from

          15       Hampshire who came to talk to us about it, and I had

          16       been aware before, and he described it at some length

          17       including the -- we saw documentation in fact of the

          18       independent evaluation of what they have achieved there.

          19       They used UN Convention on the rights of the child which

          20       overlaps on the human rights but is a bit broader based.

          21       It goes into other rights but whether it is the same it

          22       is especially congruent.  They clearly felt there was

          23       something clearly added and the independent evaluation

          24       suggests that this led to fewer -- where it had been

          25       totally embedded in schools, it is borough wide, and it
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           1       is primary schools and secondary schools, and it is semi

           2       used have, and there is a proportion that has, they term

           3       it, fully embedded it and where they have there is some

           4       evidence that has led to fewer exclusions, resolved some

           5       bullying problems and even led to higher SATs scores.

           6           Apparently Beverley Hughes, the Children's Minister,

           7       has been made aware of this and shown interest in it but

           8       another minister who came to Hampshire to look at this

           9       approach expressed a little bit of scepticism whether

          10       parents would feel uncomfortable with a rights based

          11       approach, and then there was evidence that parents were

          12       absolutely behind it and driving it to some extent.

          13           We asked this witness about Ofsted and whether

          14       Ofsted within your framework are able to evaluate this

          15       and if we understood the evidence correctly he said that

          16       he thought you had difficulty in evaluating it.  It

          17       didn't fit into the structures and frameworks of your

          18       inspection.

          19           So I would love you to comment on this insofar as

          20       you can, not knowing about it.  Given what you have said

          21       about feeling that the current frameworks are congruent

          22       with human rights, and in a sense you don't need the

          23       value added of human rights.  It is a UNICEF encouraged

          24       project and I believe there are other individual schools

          25       around the country that use it but Hampshire has taken
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           1       it on as a council, as we understand it.  I would be

           2       interested in your response to that.

           3   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  If I begin and say that the work that we

           4       do, all our frameworks are aimed at promoting as good 

           5       outcomes as possible and obviously if you have good

           6       outcomes that impacts very positively on individual

           7       children and on groups of children.  So I would say that

           8       is terribly important first of all that we focus on

           9       outcomes.

          10           Secondly, across our remits we do look at equalities

          11       so we will look at whether equalities legislation is

          12       being implemented and whether they are, where the

          13       different groups are achieving equally well.  We will

          14       also look at safeguarding and staying safe and will also

          15       look at all these issues of bullying and behaviour.

          16           So in many ways we are covering things already

          17       within the frameworks that we have.  However, we are at

          18       the moment developing, well we are looking at our new

          19       iteration of school inspection and other inspections at

          20       the moment but we are trying to cover things to a very

          21       large extent.

          22   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I think, and I have read about

          23       this and things to do with it, so I am able to talk

          24       about it a little bit more than just from our witness

          25       statement.  I think the point is about this approach to
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           1       schooling, and it is very much taking a human rights

           2       approach to schooling, is that the young people are

           3       encouraged to think about both their rights and

           4       responsibilities and how that leads to respect for each

           5       other and the experience reflected back from the staff

           6       as a kind of fundamental ethos of the school.  It is

           7       embedded in the ethos of the school.

           8           And there will be those that argue that a human

           9       rights-based approach and indeed the information on the

          10       rights of the child is what it actually means.  It

          11       doesn't actually just mean dissecting the bits of it and

          12       seeing that it complies with the law but in its most

          13       fullest spirit that it becomes embedded into the ethos

          14       of an institution, and in a school this is what it

          15       means.

          16   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Well I think we are not actually

          17       dissecting things because we do look at a school

          18       holistically.

          19   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Sure, I appreciate you do.  I am

          20       talking about a human rights view holistically.  Of

          21       course you do.  I wouldn't dream of suggesting otherwise

          22       in terms of your approach to inspections but I am

          23       talking about a human rights-based approach is more

          24       than, if you like, the sum of its parts.  It is more

          25       than seeing that the disciplinary procedure is compliant
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           1       and indeed compliance is not really the first issue; it

           2       is really an ethos issue.

           3   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  We certainly look at the ethos of

           4       a school.  We look at the school's contribution to the

           5       community's cohesion, so we are taking account of these

           6       things to some extent, to some very considerable extent.

           7       If you want to add more.

           8   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  I just wondered if it was worth

           9       mentioning, because our inspections are quite short, we

          10       don't actually have time to cover a whole range of

          11       things in depth and I suspect what you are hearing from

          12       Hampshire is that we wouldn't have time to really look

          13       at that.  But we do, what we call thematic studies on

          14       a regular basis and we pick up on issues like that.

          15       I think in particular, Miriam, the work David Moore has

          16       done on behaviour where several local authorities have

          17       piloted ways of encouraging people to take more

          18       responsibility for their behaviour.  Those pilots have

          19       been set up and we have monitored the outcomes of those

          20       and produced a report.

          21           There are lots of other areas that we look at very

          22       specifically and it is really where we don't have an

          23       opportunity to go into detail in specific areas that we

          24       would perhaps look in a thematic study to evaluate.

          25   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Can I move on and ask you, do you
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           1       have responsibility for young people in secure training

           2       centres?

           3   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes, we inspect.

           4   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  We inspect.

           5   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  In your inspection role, yes.  So

           6       you will be aware of the recent case concerning

           7       restraint techniques.

           8   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes.

           9   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Had you been concerned about that

          10       before?

          11   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  If you look at the reports that we write

          12       you will find that inspectors comment on restraint

          13       techniques.  We find that they comment very specifically

          14       on the impact they have on young people, the procedures

          15       that are used, how well they are used, the sort of

          16       counselling that young people have, different approaches

          17       that are, let us say, less physical used and whether

          18       restraint is used as a last possible intervention, and

          19       most of that will come through our reports.

          20           We have been quite critical of some of the

          21       techniques that have been used, not just in the secure

          22       estate because some of these techniques can be used in

          23       children's homes, and the national standards refers

          24       specifically to the secure estate but not always to

          25       children's homes, and we have been checking reports from our inspectors about

           2       inappropriate use of restraints. Roger Morgan and inspectors have specifically focused on that over the last year.

           4   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Did you work on the results of

           5       the case which is also a part of the human rights?

           6   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  There is a report yet to be published

           7       and I think anything that can actually make a difference

           8       in the way young people are helped to deal with their

           9       behaviour is very welcome.  I think there is a lot more

          10       to be done, a lot more that can be done and I think

          11       the report which is due out in November will actually

          12       cover some of that.  It contains some evidence from our

          13       inspections and also from Her Majesty's Inspector of

          14       Prisons.

          15   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Whose report?  Is that a joint report.

          16   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  It is not a report from us.  It is

          17       a commissioned report from the DCSF which is going to be

          18       published, as I understand it, in November.

          19   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  I think one of the important things

          20       about the reports that we produce is making sure that we

          21       get really good coverage for them in the press because

          22       actually the case that you are referring to was great in

          23       that it shone a spotlight on an issue that we had been

          24       reporting on. Actually getting that level of public

          25       interest in it is not always as easy as it might appear.
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           1       So I think there is an issue there on how we use our

           2       reports effectively to raise awareness of those human

           3       rights issues which that case did.

           4   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  In a similar vein, are you aware

           5       of the United Nations Children's Rights Committee

           6       recommendation that there should be a change to our law

           7       to give children in custody statutory rights to

           8       education?  And if you are aware could you comment on

           9       the recommendation?  I think this would be helpful.

          10   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes, we are aware of it and it is

          11       something that we have been asked to look at.

          12           I think our view is that children are entitled to

          13       education, that young people in custody have a better

          14       life chance if they are well educated and certainly in

          15       our secure children's homes one of the major

          16       difficulties is that young people haven't had a good

          17       education.  Some of them have severe mental health

          18       issues.  Some of them have very poor literacy skills or

          19       poor numeracy skills.  But also there are times when

          20       children and young people are there for such short

          21       periods of time that their education is either ignored

          22       or disrupted because they are not there long enough for

          23       any real development to take place.  And it is something

          24       that we have, I think, pushed very hard to try and shine

          25       the light and we would certainly welcome anything that
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           1       could strengthen that.

           2           In terms of legislation it is always difficult

           3       because one has to think about enforcement and how that

           4       would happen and also the implications for young people,

           5       and I mean clearly if it is legislation that will help,

           6       then it is something that would be welcomed but we would

           7       like to probably look at this legislation.

           8   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  I would comment that arguably

           9       they already have that right under the protocol under

          10       the human rights.

          11   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Arguably but it is not necessarily

          12       implemented as well as it could be.

          13   PROFESSOR FRANCESCA KLUG:  Do you have any role in

          14       implementing that?

          15   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  We have a role in looking at education as

          16       it is provided and we are not just looking to see

          17       whether it is provided but how good it is.  And I think

          18       that is a really important role and, as Jean

          19       says, we will point out shortcomings, for example, if

          20       there is a lack of continuity, a lack of progression, so

          21       we certainly when we are inspecting will point out

          22       things like that.

          23   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  And the minimum entitlement that the

          24       legislation allows for is not always achieved.

          25   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  I want to go back to looked after
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           1       children and there are two issues I would like to deal

           2       with fairly briefly.  The first issue is that it is my

           3       understanding that Government have asked you to report

           4       on the progress of children in care between 2009 and

           5       2010.

           6   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes.

           7   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  And that would then feed into its

           8       decision whether to change appeals, arrangements for

           9       appeals, for SEN statements for looked after children;

          10       is that right?  The situations, as I understand it, is

          11       that where a child requires an SEN statement but the

          12       local authority hasn't conducted an assessment, the

          13       right of a appeal is restricted to the parent of the

          14       child or the person with parental responsibility and

          15       there is very little evidence of local authorities

          16       bringing appeals.

          17           So the question then must be: are these children

          18       falling through the gap effectively?  And therefore they

          19       have asked you to look at the arrangements for appeals

          20       for looked after children.  Is that correct?

          21   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  We are not conscious of that.

          22   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  No, we are not conscious of that.  We are

          23       looking at looked after children every year at the

          24       moment so we are, as I say, surveying how well they are

          25       doing and we are also looking at them in the way they
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           1       are cared for in children's homes.

           2           We have got a review for special educational needs

           3      planned for 2009/10.  I wasn't aware that it was actually

           4       part of that review.  But it might be.  I mean we are

           5       still scoping the work which is to be done in 2009/10.

           6   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  We would have a concern that the

           7       children who are cared for may not be getting the

           8       appeals which are necessary and that is why I asked you

           9       the question.  Perhaps you could come back to us on it.

          10   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes.  It is the corporate parent

          11       appealing against the corporate parent which is

          12       a difficulty there and it is an issue that we are

          13       conscious of but we haven't yet been asked to do

          14       anything specifically on that, although Roger Morgan is

          15       considering looking into that as part of his work.  So

          16       it could be that he has had a more recent discussion

          17       about this area than we have.

          18   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  I think it would be helpful if we

          19       could follow that up in writing because I think that

          20       might be something we are just not fully up to speed

          21       with.

          22   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  And Roger Morgan is your Children's

          23       Rights?  Okay, that deals with my questions.

          24           The one question we haven't asked you about is myths

          25       in the media simply because I have been asking everybody
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           1       about myths in the media.  Is there anything which

           2       Ofsted, New Ofsted do to try and deal with myths in the

           3       media, false reporting in the media?  Is there anything

           4       that you would like to contribute in terms of developing

           5       good policy for dealing with that generally?

           6   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Well, I mean, as Lorraine said, we do try

           7       and get publicity for our reports and we do try to get

           8       publicity which is accurate and fair and we put out

           9       spokespeople to talk about our major reports.  So that

          10       is our main focus really.  And also if there is

          11       something which we know isn't right, then we would put

          12       out a line to say no, this isn't actually what happened.

          13           I don't know whether you want to say any more about

          14       it, Lorraine.

          15   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  I think it is fair to say there are

          16       sections of the press that have taken -- you can see

          17       that there is a stance taken around the Human Rights Act

          18       which make it more difficult perhaps to get a fair

          19       hearing of some of the issues that we have talked about.

          20       So I think we would certainly be interested in looking

          21       at ways of tackling that.

          22           I mean our role really is to try and get coverage

          23       for the evidence that comes out of our reports and in

          24       trying to use the press as a lever for public exposure

          25       and therefore for improvement and sometimes that is more
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           1       challenging than others.

           2   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  I think it is fair to say that some of

           3       what you describe as trade press are more likely to

           4       listen and to accept a different perspective and to give

           5       a reasonably fair picture.

           6   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  You are talking about things like Times

           7       Ed.

           8   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes, and Care Matters and some of the

           9       early year’s publication.  They reach quite large ranges

          10       of people who tend to be a little bit more knowledgeable

          11       than perhaps we get from the national press.

          12   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  I think there are also opportunities

          13       perhaps that we have yet to explore for those who run

          14       the new media because quite a lot of the debate is

          15       happening there on the web that you can tap in to and

          16       that provides a greater sense of dialogue.

          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Can I ask you one final question and it

          18       comes from evidence I heard in Wales from a Traveller
          19       child, very impressive Traveller child who came to give

          20       me evidence.

          21           The general evidence which I received is that

          22       Traveller children have difficulties in the traditional

          23       education system and do not achieve the same level as

          24       settled children, Traveller/Gypsy children.  So I just

          25       wanted to ask you, have you a special policy for those
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           1       children?

           2   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  We don't have a special policy but we will

           3       look at such children when we are in schools because we

           4       are concerned to look at all groups.  So we will look at

           5       them specifically as a group to see if they are

           6       achieving as well as they should be doing.

           7           We will also look at them in the surveys and we have

           8       over the years had thematic reports on how well

           9       Traveller children are doing.  They might also be looked

          10       at in a joint area review if it is a particular issue in

          11       a local authority that we are looking at.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Have there been any improvements?

          13   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  We also have very good data from groups

          14       of children which enables us almost to look at every

          15       individual child in school and the child's progress and

          16       certainly to identify groups of children and their

          17       progress and we use that data to call head teachers and

          18       others to account for the progress of those children.

          19   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  I think what we would say is there is

          20       still a way to go.

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  And have you seen an improvement in the

          22       performance of these children since you started to do

          23       this?

          24   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  I don't think I can comment on that

          25       without looking more specifically.  I don't know if we
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           1       actually have the evidence because we haven't done a

           2       thematic study recently.

           3   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Could I ask you to check whether there

           4       is anything you can assist us with in this context.

           5   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  We could look and see if we have -- what

           6       our evidence says.

           7   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  In relation to Gypsy/Traveller children.

           8       I would be most grateful.  Thank you very much.  Is

           9       there anything you would like to add to your evidence?

          10   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Did you want to say anything about our

          11       internal procedures?

          12   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  Maybe just to finish by saying that we

          13       have put in place some fairly robust leadership

          14       structures now for equality specifically but also human

          15       rights which is enabling us to look at it from sort of

          16       the highest levels through our policy framework in terms

          17       of employment as well as the inspections we focussed on

          18       today.

          19           So there has been quite a lot of work looking at

          20       learning development, looking at how we can raise

          21       awareness internally, looking at how we can ensure that

          22       we are sort of up to speed in skills.  So we have just

          23       put in place a new set of employment policies which

          24       specifically we have looked at through the lens of human

          25       rights and making sure that they are aligned and
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           1       particularly things like in ensuring people have the

           2       right for representation for hearing and so on.

           3           So there is the other side I suppose: Ofsted as an

           4       employer that we have been working on too.

           5   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Do you have a legal services department?

           6       I am assuming you do.

           7   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  We use the Treasury Solicitors but in

           8       fact we are now bringing part of that in-house to give

           9       us a greater level of sort of internal expertise about

          10       the issues that we deal with.  But at the moment we use

          11       the Treasury Solicitors.

          12   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Okay.  I am just wondering in the light

          13       of the conversation Francesca had with you whether you

          14       have asked human rights lawyers to screen your policies

          15       for Human Rights Act child impact.

          16   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  Our internal employment policies?

          17   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  No, your policies, your general

          18       policies.

          19   MS MIRIAM ROSEN:  Do you mean our inspection frameworks; is

          20       what you really mean.

          21   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Yes, but you don't just inspect, you

          22       regulate.  You are trying to improve services.

          23   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  Yes, we do.

          24   MS LORRAINE LANGHAM:  We have got an equalities impact

          25       assessment screening that we use for all of our policies
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           1       which obviously has quite a lot of synergy with human

           2       rights issues that we are talking about.

           3   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  Does it actually address human rights

           4       issues because equality policies very often address

           5       equality and diversity but not human rights.

           6   MS JEAN HUMPHRYS:  The Treasury Solicitors have looked at

           7       the policies that we have built and also internal

           8       policies and they say that they are compliant.

           9   DAME NUALA O'LOAN:  That is fine.  Thank you very much.

          10       Thank you for coming.  We are most grateful.

          11    (4.00 pm)

          12                 (The fourth session concluded)
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